
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Susan Gardner, Democratic Services (01254) 380184 
Email:  susan.gardner@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Tuesday, 21 June 2016 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Tuesday, 28 June 2016 at 5.30 pm, 
Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Eamonn Higgins (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Bernadette Parkinson, Mohammad Ayub, Loraine Cox, Kath Pratt and Glen Harrison 
 
Cooptees:  

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence and Substitutions   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Minutes of Last Meeting  (Pages 3 - 8) 
 
To receive the Minutes of the meeting of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny held on Friday, 18th March 2016 for approval as a correct record. 
 
Recommended - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

4.   Appointment of Co-optees  (Pages 9 - 12) 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

To receive applications for co-opted Members on to the Communities and Wellbeing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Recommended - That the Committee considers the applications for co-

optees and makes a recommendation to Council. 
 

5.   Work Programme 2016/17  (Pages 13 - 18) 
 
The report asks the Overview and Scrutiny Committees to give consideration to and 
approve the work programme for 2016/17. 
 
Recommended (1) That the Committee consider the draft work 

programme for the Communities and Wellbeing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee contained in the 
Appendix of the report and approve the work 
programme for 2016/17; and 

 (2) That the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee work programme be submitted to 
the next meeting of Cabinet for comment.  

 

6.   Transforming Care/Calderstones NHS  (Pages 19 - 90) 
 
To inform the Committee of the Building the Right Support and Transforming Care Plans, 
and the effect of these locally.  
 
 Resolved - That the report be noted. 
 

7.   The Evergreen School Project  (Pages 91 - 98) 
 
That the Committee considers a report relating to the proposal for The Evergreen School.    
 
Recommended - That the report be noted. 
 

 
 



 

 
211 

 
COMMUNITIES AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 

 
Friday, 18th March, 2016 

 
Present:  Councillor Kerry Molineux (in the Chair),  

Councillors Jenny Nedwell (Vice Chair), Kath Pratt, Eamonn Higgins and 
Loraine Cox 
Cooptees Dave Parkins 
 

In Attendance: Councillors  

  

Apologies: Bernadette Parkinson and Jean Battle 
 

 
433 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillor B. Parkinson and Jean Battle.  
Councillor Loraine Cox acted as substitute representative for Councillor B. Parkinson. 
 

434 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no declarations of interest or dispensations submitted. 
 

435 Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on Friday, 22nd January 2016 were submitted for approval as a correct 
record. 
  
Resolved        -  That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct  
  record. 
 

436 Crime and Disorder Update 
 
Inspector Pam Holgate, Lancashire Constabulary, provided an update on crime and 
disorder in Hyndburn.  She reported that there had been a 7% increase in crime in 
Hyndburn and that the main areas of concern centred around burglaries and vehicle crime.  
She pointed out that they had carried out proactive work in these areas to encourage and 
support residents in securing their property and this had helped in reducing the number of 
burglaries and vehicle crimes.    
 
Resolved - That the report be noted. 
 

437 Intelligence Based Targeting and Protecting Vulnerable People 
 
Inspector Pam Holgate, Lancashire Constabulary, was in attendance with Sue Sinclair, 
Hyndburn Homewise, and provided an update on crime and disorder in Hyndburn.  She 
reported that community organisations such as the Police, Hyndburn Homewise and 
Lancashire Fire & Rescue were working together to consider how to support vulnerable 
people in areas of crime and anti-social behaviour. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3.



 
 
 

 

 
212 

 
Vickie Barrett referred to examples of how community organisations had worked together to 
provide support to vulnerable people to improve safety in the home.  She pointed out that 
the aim was to prevent rather than react. 
 
Sue Sinclair, Hyndburn Homewise, reported that they had been working with the Police to 
provide crime prevention advice and had targeted the over 60s for free crime prevention 
assessments. 
 
Resolved  -  That the report be noted. 
 
 

438 Local Policing Model 
 
Inspector Pam Holgate, Lancashire Constabulary, provided a report on the local Policing 
model and the impact on Hyndburn.  She reported on how careful consideration had been 
given to ensuring that the changes made to the Policing model would still provide a good 
Police service to residents.  She reported that the Policing model had been designed to 
provide a higher level of Policing to the areas in greatest need and therefore each area had 
been scored from on an index of need.  She reported that Hyndburn had fallen just outside 
of the top ten protected areas and that the new Policing model had introduced a holistic 
approach rather than a neighbourhood approach.  She explained that there would still be a 
Police presence in Hyndburn and that calls to the Police were graded in respect of priority 
and responded to accordingly.  She reported that there would be future reviews of the 
Police model and that it would be adapted accordingly.  She referred to the location of the 
new Police Station and explained that enquiry hours would stay the same but that there 
would not be any custody cells.   
 
Resolved - That the Police be invited back to a future meeting of 

the Communities and Wellbeing Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee to provide updated reports on the 
effectiveness of the new Police model.  

 
  

 
439 Work Programme 2016/17 

 
The Chair of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview & Scrutiny Committee referred to 
the impending closure of Calderstones and to her concerns about the level of support being 
put in place for its current residents.  She explained that some residents would be released 
into the community and some moved to other mental health units.  She informed the 
Committee that a meeting had been held by the Lancashire County Council Joint Health 
Scrutiny Committee which had raised many concerns about the closure and the effect on its 
residents, largely due to the speed of the process and a consequent lack of support and 
provision being in place.  She indicated that it was important to know how much this would 
impact Hyndburn and suggested that this item was placed on the Work Programme for 
2016/17. 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer pointed out that the item ‘Police Update’ would be added 
to the Work Programme for 2016/17 and invited Members to make suggestions for other 
items to be added to the Work Programme before the end of April 2016.   
 
Councillor Nedwell suggested that ‘Foodbanks’ was added to the Work Programme to 
discuss concerns about the number of people using them and to consider interventions that 
could be put in place to reduce the number of users through support and education.   

Page 4



 
 
 

 

 
213 

 
Resolved (1) That the items ‘the Closure of Calderstones’, ‘Policing 

Update’ and ‘Foodbanks’ be added to the Work 
Programme for 2016/17; and  

 
 (2) That Members submit further items for consideration for 

the Work Programme for 2016/17 to the Overview & 
Scrutiny Officer before the end of April 2016.  

 
 

440 Primary Care Model 
 
Representatives from the East Lancashire Clinical Commissioning Group reported on local 
primary care and the redesign of the services in Hyndburn.  Representatives included:  

- Rachel Watkins 
- Dr. Richard Robinson  
- Dr. Mark Dziobon 
- Lisa Cunliffe 
- Sharon Martin 
- Dr. Phil Huxley 

 
Dr. Huxley reported on the challenges for the Clinical Commissioning Group in redesigning 
the health care system so that it could adapt to the requirements of the 21st century.  He 
indicated that they had considered carefully, the requirements of the new model which 
would be put into practise across East Lancashire.  He reported that the proposed new 
model would be going out to consultation in the next few months.   
 
Lisa Cunliffe provided information on the background to the project and pointed out that this 
process had started 16 months ago.  She informed the Committee that they were now at 
the stage of consulting with East Lancashire residents and organisations and pointed out 
how a change of service would impact other areas of health care provision.  She reported 
that: 
 

- Focus Groups had been set up  
- Patients had been invited to complete and submit questionnaires at health centres 

 
The key findings from the information received from the surveys and focus groups were 
then divided into key themes.  Three events were then held; the first about ‘access to 
appointments and services’, the second about access to information and the third about 
work forces.  A group was set up to make sense of the information and later produced a set 
of principles for the first event.  A further check of what respondents to questionnaires had 
wanted was undertaken by further engagement.  The principles were: 

 Location 

 Simplification 

 Continuity of care access to information 
 

The principles created a vision but this was followed by the challenge of making it work.  
She reported on how they had started to look at how the model could be delivered and how 
they intended to lead the initiative.  She indicated that a Project Manager had been 
appointed and had worked with GP Practices and health care providers to determine needs 
and requirements.  She reported that they were looking at having hubs in each locality and 
GPs feeding back into these hubs.  Each hub would have access to medical records.  She 
outlined the benefits to patients of a proposed new system. 
 

Page 5



 
 
 

 

 
214 

Sharon Martin referred to the current arrangements for access to GP appointments by 
patients and the proposal for access for patients to GP services including urgent hubs at 
the weekend.  She pointed out that it was their aim to provide a more simplistic system.  
She referred to the current contract for services at the Walk-In Centre and informed the 
Committee that there was an offer to extend this contract until March 2017 but pointed out 
that the new health hub would be situated in Hyndburn.  She referred to how they were 
consulting the public on these issues. 
 
Members submitted the following questions and comments: 
 

- Requested information on how a system with extra appointments would compare to 
the current system of a general walk-in centre. 

- Where the location of the new hub would be situated. 
- What action was being taken to ensure that the Asian community was aware of the 

changes 
- If staff, working at the Walk-In Centre, were aware of the possible closure. 
- Reassurance that plans would be put in place before the closure of the Walk-In 

Centre to prevent confusion and chaos.  Need for a timetabled phase in. 
- Reassurance that GP receptionists would receive adequate training before the new 

system was implemented. 
- What would happen to people who were not currently registered with a GP practice. 
- That consideration was given to locating the new Hub at Accrington Victoria 

Hospital, being the most accessible location.   
 
Representatives from the East Lancashire Clinical Commissioning Group provided the 
following responses: 
 

- The new model would aim to move away from an appointment system and be more 
responsive in providing instant care.   

- The new model would need to be more sustainable over the long term. 
- Reference was made to the key determinants which showed the type of work 

required to improve clinical effectiveness. 
- All GP practices in East Lancashire and Blackburn with Darwen used the same 

software system making access to medical records possible. 
- To reduce the amount of duplication currently taking place with medical services. 
- The new location of the Hub had not yet been identified but it would be in Hyndburn. 
- The new system would be more efficient and safer for patients. 
- The consultation would begin in April and last for 3 months and at the end of this 

period a decision would be taken by the Governing Body. 
- People who are not registered with a doctor’s practice will be actively sought out 

and contacted.   
       
Dr. Huxley referred to the importance of completing the consultation and to define the 
structure and delivery of the model.   
 
The Chair issued an invitation, once the review had been completed, to return and give a 
presentation to the Committee and Full Council.   
 
Resolved (1) That a copy of the presentation and consultation are 

included in the Members’ Information Bulletin;  
  
                                           (2)  That Members of Hyndburn Borough Council are 

represented on the Steering Group;  
     

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
215 

 (3) That consideration be given to locating the new Hub in 
Hyndburn and preferably at Accrington Victoria 
Hospital; and 

 
                (4) That, on completion of the consultation, representatives 

of the East Lancashire Clinical Commissioning Group 
be invited to the Communities and Wellbeing Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and the Full Council to provide 
Members with an updated report. 

                               
             
    
    
   
 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 
Date: …………….………………………………………… 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 
 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TO: Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

DATE: 28 June 2016 

REPORT OF: Cllr Eamonn Higgins, Chair of the Communities and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

REPORT AUTHOR: Overview and Scrutiny Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Appointment of Co-optees 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To receive applications for Co-opted Member on to the Communities and Wellbeing 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That the Committee considers the applications and makes and appropriate 

recommendation to Council. 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The Councils Constitution, Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule C2 states: 
 

Each overview and scrutiny committee may appoint up to three members of the public, 
who the committee deems to have relevant experience of topics related to that scrutiny 
committee, as non-voting co-optees.  
 
(i) Applications may be invited to fill a vacancy for a co-opted member at the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee; applications may also be received directly from members of 
the public.  

 
(ii) The application will be considered first at the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. The Committee will consider the knowledge and experience of the 
applicant relevant to the terms of reference or work programme of the Committee.  

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4.



 

(iii) The intention is that such co-optees will be non-political.  
 

(iv) If the majority of the Overview and Scrutiny members support the appointment of 
the applicant, the proposed appointment will be presented to Council for approval.  

 
3.2 There are 6 vacancies for Co-opted Members between the 2 Committees. Should 

there be no objections from the Committees, Honorary Aldermen Dave Parkins and Ian 
Ormerod will be put forward to Council for reappointment to the Communities and 
Wellbeing and the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committees respectively. 

 
3.3 One new application to be Co-opted on to this Committee has been received by Kerry 

Molineux. Kerry is a former Councillor who stood down at the end of her term in 
2015/16. Kerry Molineux was Chair of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and the Health and Communities Working Group for 2 years, and 
also represented Hyndburn Borough Council on Lancashire County Council’s Health 
Scrutiny Committee. Kerry is a former resident of Great Harwood and still has strong 
ties to Hyndburn. Although a former member of the Labour Party, Kerry always brought 
a non-political approach to her role as Scrutiny Chair.    

 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 It is a requirement of the Constitution that the Committee considers applications from 

members of the public to be co-opted on to the Committee. Any alternative would first 
require a change to the Constitution. 

 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 None 
 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

None 

Assessment of risk 
 

None 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 

Not Applicable 

Page 10

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

an appendix to the report.  

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 None 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 5 
 

 AGENDA ITEM X           

REPORT TO: Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee; Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

DATE: 28th June 2016; 19th July 2016 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Eamonn Higgins, Chair of the Communities 
and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
Councillor Abdul Khan, Chair of the Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

REPORT AUTHOR: Overview and Scrutiny Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 2016/17 

EXEMPT REPORT:  No  

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 This report asks the Committees to give consideration to and approve the work 

programme for 2016/17 of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the 
Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That the Committees consider the draft work programmes contained in the Appendix to 

this report and approves their work programmes for 2016/17. 
 
2.2 The work programme of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee be submitted to the 
next meeting of Cabinet for comment. 

 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 At the beginning of each municipal year, the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees each agree a work programme for the new Municipal Year. 
 
3.2 The process for agreeing the work programme is set out in Overview and Scrutiny 

procedure rule C6(a) as follows; 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5.



Page 2 of 5 
 

 
“A draft work programme will be submitted for comment to the first appropriate meeting 
of the Cabinet at the beginning of each new Municipal Year and the draft work 
programme for each overview and scrutiny committee will then be submitted to the 
next following meeting of that committee (together with any comments or 
recommendations from the Cabinet) for approval”. 

 
3.3 Consultation has been held with the Chairs and Vice Chairs of each committee and via 

a meeting with the Cabinet. Also, every Councillor and Head of Service have been 
requested to submit their suggestions for Overview and Scrutiny Items. This generated 
a few topics which have been added to the work programme. 

 
3.4 We have sought to provisionally allocate items to specific meetings.  These may be 

subject to change during the year, particularly where they involve the attendance of 
external and partner organisations. When agreed, a copy of the work programme will 
be sent to all service managers and to all Cabinet members to give advanced notice 
that Scrutiny will be considering an item in their portfolio. 

 
3.5 Additional items may be added to the work programme as the year progresses. 
 
3.6 The draft work programmes for both committees can be seen in appendix 1.   
 
3.7 The Committees are asked to agree to a draft work programme to be submitted to 

Cabinet. 
 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Committees could agree alternate work programmes. This has been rejected as 

the draft programmes have been developed from in depth consultation.  
 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 As discussed in paragraph 3.3. 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
mainstreaming) 
 

Not applicable 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Not applicable 

Assessment of risk 
 

Not applicable 

Equality and diversity implications Not applicable 

Page 14



Page 3 of 5 
 

A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
 None applicable to this report 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
  

Page 15

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


Page 4 of 5 
 

 

Work Programmes 2016/17 

 
  

Draft Resources Work Programme 2016/17 
 

 
Meeting Date 
 

 
Work Topics  

 
19

th
  July 

 
- Impact of Taxis Licenced outside of the Borough – Cllr Molineux / Jane Ellis 

- HR Business Plan (People Strategy) 

 
6

th
  Sept 

 
- Integrated IT solution and potential savings – Cllr Molineux/Scott Gardner 

- Housing and Regeneration Business Plan Update – Cllr Cleary/Mark 

Hoyle/Helen McCue Melling 

- Land Asset Review – Progress on Recommendations – Cllr Cleary / Mark 

Hoyle / Helen McCue Melling 

 

 
25

th
  October 

 
- Town Centre Viability (Report to include impact of late night licensing, 

business rates, betting shops and takeaways) – Cllr Cleary (To liaise with 

various Service Heads) 

- Audit Business Plan Update – Mark Beard 

 
13th December 

 
- Fly Tipping in Hyndburn – Cllr Cox 

- Environmental Health Service Plan – Cllr Cox 

- Effects of the Removal of Cost Share for Waste Services from LCC – Cllr 

Cox  

 
24th January 

 
 
- Hyndburn Borough Council website review – Cllr Molineux / Scott Gardner 

- IT Business Plan Update – Cllr Molineux/Scott Gardner 

- Legal and Democratic Services Business Plan Update – Cllr Molineux/ Jane 

Ellis 

 
 

 

 
14

th
 February  

 
Budget – Joe McIntyre/Cllr Molineux 
 
 
 
 

 
21st March  

 
- Hyndburn Leisure Financial Update – Cllr Moss 

- Office of the Chief Executive Business Plan Update – Cllr Parkinson / Mike 

Walker 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 16



Page 5 of 5 
 

 Draft Communities and Wellbeing Work Programme 2016/17 
 

 
Meeting date 

 
Work topics 

28
th
 June - Applications for Co-opted Members 

- Closure of Calderstones NHS Trust / Transforming Care 

- Proposal for Free School in Great Harwood 

 

 
7

th
 September 

- LCC Property Strategy 

 
 
 
 
 

 
28

th
 October 

 
 

- St Christophers School Proposal 

 
 
 
 
 

 
13

th
 December 

 
- Social Housing Report 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
27

th
 January 

 
 

- Community Safety Plan 

- Policing  in Hyndburn – update on new model 

- North West Ambulance Service 

- Fire and Rescue Update / First Responders 

 
 
 
 
 

24
th
  March   

 
- Lancashire and South Cumbria Change Programme 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

To be allocated a date 
Health Access Centre / Primary Care Model 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TO: Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Officer 

DATE: 28 June 2016 

REPORT AUTHOR: Overview and Scrutiny Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Transforming Care / Calderstones NHS Trust 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To inform the Committee of the Building the Right Support and Transforming Care 

Plans, and the local effects of these. This is a cover report. 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Not applicable 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 This is a cover report. The Chief Executive of Calderstones NHS Trust has been 

invited to report to the Committee on this topic. Included are 3 appendices for the 
Committees Information. The Committee should be aware that the Chief Executive of 
Calderstones NHS Trust has been invited to speak specifically on Appendix C (listed 
below) although may be able to respond to some questions relating to Appendix A and 
B. 

 
 Appendix A and B are provided to give Members background information to the 

presentation on Calderstones. 
 

Appendix A - Transforming Care for people with a learning disability and/or Autism – 
Copy of report submitted to LCC Health Scrutiny on 26th January 2016. 

 
Appendix B – Building the Right Support - A national plan to develop community 
services and close inpatient facilities for people with a learning disability and/or autism 
who display behaviour that challenges, including those with a mental health condition. 

 
Appendix C – Your Voice….Your Change – Presentation on Calderstones NHS Trust. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6.



 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Not applicable 
 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Not applicable to this cover report 
 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

None 

Assessment of risk 
 

None 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

NA 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Agenda. Reports and Minutes of LCC Health Scrutiny on 26th January 2016  

http://council.lancashire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=182&MId=3967  
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 20

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
http://council.lancashire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=182&MId=3967


Health Scrutiny Committee 
Meeting to be held on 26 January 2016

Electoral Division affected:
All 

Transforming Care for people with a learning disability and/or Autism 
(Appendix A refers)

Contact for further information:
Charlotte Hammond Head of Service Adult Safeguarding, Learning Disability and 
Mental Health 07771338882
Sally Nightingale Manager Policy, Information and Commissioning (Live Well) 
07717301861

Executive Summary
The report provides the committee with a summary and history of the Transforming 
Care agenda for people with a learning disability or autism and an update of 
progress. It informs members of Lancashire's inclusion in a National "Fast Track" 
programme, and its subsequent mainstreaming to form a Transforming Care 
Partnership, a strategically led Pan Lancashire collaboration of 8 Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs), 3 Local Authorities and NHS England specialised 
commissioners, where the transformation needed can be planned and implemented. 

Recommendation
The committee is recommended to:

i. Note the progress made in developing the Transforming Care agenda in 
Lancashire;

ii. Agree to provide future support and challenge that will enable effective 
engagement; and

iii. Note the discussions taking place regarding the funding arrangements for this 
group of people.

Background and Advice 
Following the Panorama programme broadcast in May 2011 which exposed the 
abuse at Winterbourne View, the Department of Health published a report and action 
plan titled 'Transforming Care'. The report focuses on the care and support 
experienced by all children, young people and adults with learning disabilities or 
autism who may also have mental health conditions or behave in ways that are 
described as challenging.

The review found widespread failings in service design, failure of commissioning, 
and failure to transform services in line with established good practice.

Winterbourne View – Time for Change
The Bubb report (Winterbourne View – Time for Change, November 2014) 
reinforced and escalated previous policy drivers and requirements in relation to how 

Page 21



people with a learning disability are supported. It emphasised a lack of progress and 
failures to meet the expectations and pace within the National and Local Action 
Plans on Winterbourne / Transforming Care. The report directed how commissioners 
needed to respond to the agenda, specifying the need for 'one shared plan’, ‘one 
lead commissioner’ and ultimately, ‘one pooled budget’. These National issues are 
also reflected locally in Lancashire. 

Fast Track - Transforming Care for people with a learning disability
The announcement of Lancashire's (including Blackpool and Blackburn and Darwen) 
inclusion in a National Fast Track programme in June 2015 provided the impetus 
and strategic leadership, for the necessary collaboration across the sectors (8 
CCGs, 3 local authorities, NHS England specialised commissioners, providers and 
stakeholders) to plan for and drive the transformation required for the Learning 
Disability (LD) community. Lancashire partners were required to develop and write 
the action plan for submission in September 2015. 

Governance and support 
The programme is led and governed by The Transforming Care Partnership a 
strategic steering group of representative partners. An existing group, the LD 
Commissioners Network, has taken responsibility for progress on the identified work 
streams and associated action plans and report to the Steering group: 

 Sharon Martin, Director Performance and Delivery East Lancashire CCG has 
been identified as Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) to lead the process;

 Tony Pounder, Director of Adult Services, Lancashire County Council has 
been identified as a Local Authority SRO in support of the lead and also 
represents Lancashire at the Regional Transforming Care Board; 

 There is a governance framework for the LD transformation programme for 
Lancashire through to the Health & Wellbeing Board;

 An alliance of national organisations support transforming care partnerships to 
deliver on this ambitious agenda including NHS England, Local Government 
Association (LGA), Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS), 
Health Education England (HEE), Skills for Health, Skills for Care, the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC), NHS Trust Development Authority (TDA), 
Monitor, and provider representative organisations;

 A Lancashire Confirm and Challenge group will work closely with people with 
a learning disability and/or autism as well as their families/carers to ensure the 
work is co-produced.

The situation in Lancashire 
At the time of writing the Lancashire plan there were 47 in- patients in CCG cohorts 
and 46 in- patients in the NHS specialist commissioning cohort. The Lancashire Plan 
committed us to:

 Re-home as many of the current in-patients as possible into community care 
packages

 Appoint Care Co-ordinators to support discharge 
 Review Social Work in Lancashire and set up an LD Social Work team – this 

action has been achieved and the team are operational 
 Develop a new service model that will be delivered in communities by key 

professionals working together; that the new service will provide a uniform 

Page 22



case management process incorporating person centred planning, care and 
treatment reviews (CTRs)  

 Pilot a Positive Behavioural Support Service in 2 areas 
 Develop innovative accommodation and care packages 

Building the Right Support 
The experiences of the 5 Fast Track Local Authorities and their NHS partners 
chosen to develop and submit, to NHS England, their plans for transforming their LD 
services over the summer of 2015 were taken and used in the development of 
Building the Right Support  (October 2015) - A national plan and service model to 
develop community services and close inpatient facilities for people with a learning 
disability and/or autism who display behaviour that challenges, including those with a 
mental health condition (Appendix A).

Key points of the Building the Right Support plan include: 
 People with a learning disability have the right to the same opportunities as 

everyone else - to have a home within their own community not in a hospital
 The need to change services, to build the right community based services to 

support people at home 
 The work needs co-ordinating across organisations 

Key points of Building the Right Support that relate to Lancashire include: 
 Lancashire has been too reliant on in–patient care 
 Calderstones will close by 2019 and peoples care will be re- provided for in 

the community or where restrictions don’t allow in other in patient settings 
 If people need hospital their discharge will be planned for as soon as they are 

admitted 
 Clinical Commissioning Groups will be encouraged to pool budgets with Local 

Authorities 
 For people who have been in hospital the longest (over 5 years) the NHS will 

provide a dowry 
 In Lancashire 

o a proposal to develop an integrated community learning disability team 
o improve crisis intervention and support 
o develop staff knowledge and the use of Positive Behavioural Support 

Consultations
A stakeholder day for people with a learning disability and/or autism as well as their 
families/carers and partners was held 18 August at Calderstones NHS Foundation 
Trust to inform the development of the Lancashire plan. Further consultation will take 
place with people with a learning disability and/or autism as well as their 
families/carers through the Confirm and Challenge group. 

Implications: 
This item has the following implications, as indicated:

Page 23



Risk management
Financial
A locally defined finance proposal for dowries paid by the NHS to local authorities for 
people leaving hospital after continuous spells in inpatient care of five years or more 
years was tabled at the 11 November 2015 meeting of the Transforming Care 
Steering Group. 

Lancashire County Council rejected this proposal and have subsequently taken a 
decision not to fund patients discharged as part of the transforming care programme, 
due to the financial implications for the organisation of the costs associated with 
people discharged from hospital to the community passing from the NHS to Local 
Authorities.

LCC’s Chief Executive has written to the responsible NHS England Director, 
outlining the pressure this work programme presents and how it compounds the 
overall financial pressures for the organisation (LCC). This issue is being dealt with 
at NHS Chief Officer level and a meeting has been set in February aimed at 
achieving a mutually acceptable resolution.

Legal 
Legal advice is being taken in relation to the Transforming Care agenda, there are 
some people who are going through legal proceedings where further to legal advice 
Lancashire County Council are continuing to support.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
List of Background Papers

Paper

Scrutiny Committee

Date

18/09/2015

Contact/Tel

Ian Crabtree Head of 
Service Policy, Information 
and Commissioning (Age 
Well) 07773390254

Lancashire Health and 
Wellbeing Board

29/10/2015 Ian Crabtree, Head of Policy, 
Information & Commissioning (Age 
(Age Well) 07773390254

Page 24



 
  

Page 25

jmulligan001
Typewritten Text
Appendix A



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

2 
 

 

Building the right support 
 
A national plan to develop community services and close inpatient 
facilities for people with a learning disability and/or autism who display 
behaviour that challenges, including those with a mental health condition 
 
Version number: 1 
 
First published: 30 October 2015 
 
Updated:  
 
Prepared by: Anthony Houlden, Commissioning Policy Manager 
 
Classification: OFFICIAL  

 
Gateway reference: 04303
 
 

Page 26



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

3 
 

 

 

Contents 
 
Foreword ................................................................................................................... 4 

1.  Executive summary ............................................................................................. 5 

2.  The journey to date .............................................................................................. 9 

• Background .................................................................................................. 9 

• Fast tracks .................................................................................................. 12 

o Greater Manchester ............................................................................... 13 

o Lancashire ............................................................................................. 14 

o Cumbria and the North East .................................................................. 15 

o Hertfordshire .......................................................................................... 16 

o Nottinghamshire .................................................................................... 17 

o Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire ............................................. 17 

3.  The new services we need ................................................................................ 22 

• Improving services for a heterogeneous group .......................................... 22 

• The service model ...................................................................................... 24 

• Reduced need for inpatient services .......................................................... 27 

4.  Working together to provide new services ...................................................... 35 

• Transforming care partnerships.................................................................. 35 

• The challenge ............................................................................................. 36 

• Supporting local areas ................................................................................ 37 

• Monitoring progress .................................................................................... 41 

• Financial underpinnings ............................................................................. 43 

Conclusion .............................................................................................................. 45 

 

Annex A – Proposed CCG clusters for transforming care partnerships .................... 46 

Annex B – Workforce development .......................................................................... 52 

Annex C – Notes on data used in this document ...................................................... 55 

 

 

 

Page 27



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

4 
 

 

Foreword  
 
Children, young people and adults with a learning disability and/or autism have the 
right to the same opportunities as anyone else to live satisfying and valued lives, and 
to be treated with dignity and respect. They should have a home within their 
community, be able to develop and maintain relationships, and get the support they 
need to live healthy, safe and rewarding lives. 
 
As a society, we are on a long journey to make that simple vision a reality. We have 
made enormous strides over several decades. But for a minority of children, young 
people and adults with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviour that 
challenges, including those with a mental health condition1, we remain too reliant on 
inpatient care - as they and their families have been telling us loud and clear.   
 
It is for that reason that, in February 2015, NHS England publicly committed to a 
programme of closing inappropriate and outmoded inpatient facilities and 
establishing stronger support in the community, and promised that further details 
would follow later in the year. This plan meets that commitment.    
  
We know it comes at a time when many people with a learning disability and/or 
autism, as well as their families/carers are frustrated - that change has been limited 
and slow, particularly following the appalling scandal at Winterbourne View. We know 
too that thousands of frontline carers, clinicians, providers and commissioners want 
to make progress. 
 
This plan sets out how we will do so: supporting local leadership and making 
available new investment to kick-start change. It means that we now have an 
opportunity – to make real the rights of people with a learning disability and/or 
autism, and to help thousands of people lead happier lives.  
 
We know that this challenge is achievable because many parts of the country are 
already successfully doing it. There is good practice across the country to replicate, 
and the skills and expertise of thousands of families and front-line staff to build on. 
‘Fast track’ areas across England are starting to show what kind of transformational 
change is possible with strong local leadership building a new generation of 
community-based services.   
 
Now it is time to deliver across the whole country. This plan sets out how we intend 
to do so – working with people with a learning disability and/or autism, families, staff, 
clinicians, providers, and commissioners.  
 
 
Jane Cummings,                                      
Chief Nursing Officer, England  

Ray James, President,  Association of 
Directors of Adult Social Services  
 
 

Sarah Pickup, Deputy Chief Executive, 
Local Government Association  

Dominic Slowie, National Clinical Director 
for Learning Disability, NHS England 

   

                                            
1 Hereafter people with a learning disability and/or autism 

Page 28

DJones5
Typewritten Text

DJones5_1
Typewritten Text

DJones5_2
Typewritten Text
.



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

5 
 

 

1. Executive summary 
 

The journey to date 

1.1 Over many decades, as a society we have significantly reduced our reliance 
on institutional care to support people with a learning disability and/or autism, 
closing asylums, campuses and long-stay hospitals. For a minority of people 
however, there is still an over reliance on inpatient treatment for people who 
could, given the right support, be at home and close to their loved ones.  
 

1.2 Over the last few years hundreds of people from hospital have been 
supported to leave hospital – but others are admitted in their place, often to 
inappropriate care settings, so the number of inpatients remains steady.  We 
have not made enough progress when it comes to changing some of the 
fundamentals of care and support.  

 
1.3 To make this permanent we need a change in culture, a shift in power to 

individuals and a change in services. We need to see people with a learning 
disability and/or autism as citizens with rights, who should expect to lead 
active lives in the community and live in their own homes just as other citizens 
expect to. And we need to build the right community based services to 
support them to lead those lives, thereby enabling us to close all but the 
essential inpatient provision.    
 

1.4 To speed up this process and to help shape a national approach to supporting 
change, six ‘fast track’ areas2 drew up plans over the summer of 2015 and are 
already making a difference on the ground. Together they envisage shifting 
money into community services in order to reduce their usage of inpatient 
provision by approximately 50% over the coming three years. Their plans will 
result in the development of a range of new community services and the 
closure of hospital units, including the last standalone learning disability 
hospital in England.  
 

1.5 This document describes how we intend to build on our experience with fast 
tracks to implement change across the rest of the country.   

 

The new services we need 

1.6 People with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviour that 
challenges are a highly heterogeneous group. Some will have a mental health 
problem which may result in them displaying behaviour that challenges. 
Some, often with severe learning disabilities, will display self-injurious or 
aggressive behaviour unrelated to any mental health condition. Some will 
display behaviour which can lead to contact with the criminal justice system. 
Some will have been in hospital for many years, not having been discharged 
when NHS campuses or long-stay hospitals were closed. The new services 
and support we put in place to support them in the community will need to 
reflect that diversity. 

                                            
2 Greater Manchester; Lancashire; North East and Cumbria; Arden, Herefordshire 
and Worcestershire; Nottinghamshire; Hertfordshire 

Page 29

DJones5_3
Typewritten Text
.



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

6 
 

 

 
1.7 A national service model, developed with the help of people with lived 

experience, clinicians, providers and commissioners, outlined in this 
document and published in full alongside it, sets out the range of support that 
should be in place no later than March 2019. It should be read in tandem with 
this plan.    
 

1.8 Implementing this model, and giving people greater power over the services 
they use, will result in a significantly reduced need for inpatient care. We 
expect that as a minimum, in three years time, no area will need capacity for 
more than 10-15 inpatients per million population in clinical commissioning 
group (CCG) commissioned beds (such as assessment and treatment units), 
and 20-25 inpatients per million population in NHS England-commissioned 
beds (such as low-, medium- or high-secure services).  
 

1.9 These planning assumptions will mean that, at a minimum, 45 – 65% of CCG-
commissioned inpatient capacity will be closed, and 25 – 40% of NHS 
England-commissioned capacity will close, with the bulk of change in secure 
care expected to occur in low-secure provision. Overall, 35% - 50% of 
inpatient provision will be closing nationally with alternative care provided in 
the community. The change will be even more significant in those areas of the 
country currently more reliant on inpatient care.  In three years we would 
expect to need hospital care for only 1,300-1,700 people where now we cater 
for 2,600. This will free up money which can then be reinvested into 
community services, following upfront investment.  

 
1.10 These planning assumptions should be seen as the starting point. 

Commissioners should, working with people with a learning disability and/or 
autism, be ambitious in thinking about how much further they can go, starting 
not from the point of what services they have currently but what support 
people need to live the best possible life. 

 
1.11 Just like the rest of the population, people with a learning disability and/or 

autism must and will still be able to access inpatient hospital support if they 
need it.  What we expect however is that the need for these services will 
reduce significantly.  The limited number of beds still needed should be of 
higher quality and closer to people’s homes.  
 

1.12 For those that do need this more specialist support in hospital, their length of 
stay should be as short as possible.  We will work with providers, 
commissioners and clinicians to reduce length of stay overall and ensure 
areas learn from best practice – for instance one ‘fast track’ area aims to 
reduce length of stay in assessment and treatment services to an average of 
85 days.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

7 
 

 

Delivering change 

1.13 To achieve this systemic change, 49 transforming care partnerships 
(commissioning collaborations of CCGs, NHS England’s specialised 
commissioners and local authorities) are mobilising now. They will work with 
people who have lived experience of these services, their families and carers, 
as well as key stakeholders to agree robust implementation plans by April 
2016 and then deliver on them over three years. 

 
1.14 An alliance of national organisations will support these transforming care 

partnerships to deliver on this ambitious agenda, including NHS England, 
Local Government Association (LGA), Association of Directors of Adult Social 
Services (ADASS), Health Education England (HEE), Skills for Health, Skills 
for Care, the Care Quality Commission (CQC), NHS Trust Development 
Authority (TDA), Monitor, and provider representative organisations, working 
closely with people with a learning disability and/or autism as well as their 
families/carers. 
 

1.15 In every part of the country there are people with the skills and experience to 
deliver effective care and support. These people can be found within health 
and social care services, and amongst the families and carers who support 
individuals in their own homes. Successful delivery will depend on them. Their 
insight will be key to designing, developing and launching new services in the 
community, and their skills and experience will be central to delivering them.  
 

1.16 As part of this alliance for delivery, and working alongside local 
commissioners, we will work with provider organisations to mobilise innovative 
housing, care and support solutions in the community. Our collaboration will 
focus on supporting commissioners to redesign services, scaling up 
community-based services, developing the workforce, accessing investment 
to expand community services, and securing the capital to deliver the new 
housing needed.  

 
1.17 A new financial framework will underpin delivery of the new care model:  

• Local transforming care partnerships will be asked to use the total sum of 
money they spend as a whole system on people with a learning disability 
and/or autism to deliver care in a different way that achieves better results  

• To enable that to happen, NHS England’s specialised commissioning 
budget for learning disability and autism services will be aligned with the 
new transforming care partnerships 

• CCGs will be encouraged to pool their budgets with local authorities whilst 
recognising their continued responsibility for NHS Continuing Healthcare.  

• For people who have been in hospital the longest, the NHS will provide a 
‘dowry’ – money to help with moving people home 

• During a phase of transition, commissioners will need to invest in new 
community support before closing inpatient provision. To support them to do 
this NHS England will make available up to £30 million of  transformation 
funding, to be matched by CCGs, over and above the £10 million already 
made available to fast track areas 

Page 31



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

8 
 

 

• In addition to this, £15 million capital funding over three years will be made 
available and NHS England will explore making further capital funding 
available following the Spending Review 

• From November 2015, ‘Who Pays’ guidance will be reformed to reduce 
financial barriers to swift discharge  

 
1.18 Before the end of 2018, having built up community support and closed 

hundreds of beds, we will take stock and look at going further. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 32



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

9 
 

 

2. The journey to date 
 

Background 

2.1 Historically, from the asylum to the long stay hospital, too often people have 
been routinely placed in institutions away from their homes and communities.  

 
2.2 Rightly, most of these institutions were closed and now the majority of people 

with a learning disability and/or autism will never come into contact with the 
types of hospitals – including assessment and treatment services – that are 
discussed in this document.  

 

Figure 1: NHS learning disability beds since 19873 

 
 
2.3 The scandal at Winterbourne View, however, was not just an individual 

episode of appalling abuse. It also highlighted the fact that despite the 
progress we have made as a society in recent decades, for a small number of 
people we remain too reliant on hospital care, particularly in some parts of the 
country (see figure 2 and figure 3).  
 

 
 
 

                                            
3 Data taken from KH03 collection from all NHS organisations that operate 
consultant-led beds open overnight or day only. Changes to the way data is collected 
mean only Q4 data is provided from 2010/11.  More information: 
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/bed-availability-and-
occupancy/ 

1993: 1st Mansell 
report

8,197

2007: 2nd Mansell 
Report 

2011: Winterbourne 
View abuse 
uncovered

2001: Valuing 
People

5,694

5,212

1995 Disability 
Discrimination Act

2009: Autism Act

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

1
9
8

7
-8

8

1
9
8

8
-8

9

1
9
8

9
-9

0

1
9
9

0
-9

1

1
9
9

1
-9

2

1
9
9

2
-9

3

1
9
9

3
-9

4

1
9
9

4
-9

5

1
9
9

5
-9

6

1
9
9

6
-9

7

1
9
9

7
-9

8

1
9
9

8
-9

9

1
9
9

9
-0

0

2
0
0

0
-0

1

2
0
0

1
-0

2

2
0
0

2
-0

3

2
0
0

3
-0

4

2
0
0

4
-0

5

2
0
0

5
-0

6

2
0
0

6
-0

7

2
0
0

7
-0

8

2
0
0

8
-0

9

2
0
0

9
-1

0

Q
4

  
2
0

1
0

/1
1

Q
4

  
2
0

1
1

/1
2

Q
4

  
2
0

1
2

/1
3

Q
4

  
2
0

1
3

/1
4

Q
4

  
2
0

1
4

/1
5

A
v
e
ra

g
e
 d

a
ily

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 b
e
d
s

Page 33

http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/bed-availability-and-occupancy/


      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

10 
 

 

Figure 2: Geographical variation in reliance on CCG-commissioned inpatient 
services (as at 31 July 2015)4 

 

Figure 3: Geographical variation in reliance on NHS England-commissioned 
inpatient services (as at 31 July 2015) 56 

 

                                            
4 See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts 
5 See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

W
e

s
s
e
x

S
o

u
th

 W
e
s
t

S
o

u
th

 E
a

s
t

S
o

u
th

 C
e

n
tr

a
l

L
o
n

d
o

n

E
a

s
t

C
 M

id
la

n
d

s

Y
o

rk
s
 &

 H
u
m

b
e

r

W
 M

id
la

n
d
s

L
a
n

c
s
 &

 G
M

C
h

e
s
h

ir
e

 &
 M

e
rs

e
y

N
 M

id
la

n
d

s

C
u

m
b

ri
a
 &

 N
E

In
p
a
ti
e
n
t 

ra
te

 p
e
r 

m
ill

io
n
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

Current CCG-commissioned patients

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

S
o

u
th

 C
e

n
tr

a
l

W
e

s
s
e
x

S
o

u
th

 W
e
s
t

L
o
n

d
o

n

S
o

u
th

 E
a

s
t

C
h

e
s
h

ir
e

 &
 M

e
rs

e
y

C
 M

id
la

n
d

s

E
a

s
t

Y
o

rk
s
 &

 H
u
m

b
e

r

L
a
n

c
s
 &

 G
M

N
 M

id
la

n
d

s

C
u

m
b

ri
a
 &

 N
E

W
 M

id
la

n
d
s

In
p
a
ti
e
n
t 

ra
te

 p
e
r 

m
ill

io
n
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

Current NHS England-commissioned inpatients

Page 34

DJones5_4
Typewritten Text

DJones5_5
Typewritten Text
.

DJones5_6
Typewritten Text
.



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

11 
 

 

2.4 To address this longstanding problem recently there has been a  renewed 
push to address these issues with, for instance:  
 

• The CQC introducing a new approach to inspecting learning disability 
hospitals and the care of people with a learning disability and/or autism in 
acute hospitals 

• New data systems put in place to track the care people are receiving 

• The Department of Health’s consultation No Voice Unheard, No Right 
Ignored: a consultation for people with learning disabilities, autism and 
mental health conditions looked at how to strengthen rights, incentives and 
duties in the wider system, focusing on how people can be supported to 
live independently in their communities and make choices in their 
lives.  Views were sought on a range of ideas intended to strengthen or 
build upon existing policies, including possible changes to legislation.  The 
Government will shortly set out the actions it proposes in response to the 
consultation 

 
2.5 In addition to this, NHS England has rolled out Care and Treatment Reviews 

(CTRs) across the patient pathway – reviews of individual patients’ care to 
prevent unnecessary admissions and avoid lengthy stays in hospital. 
Individuals or families now have a new right to request a CTR. These CTRs 
bring together: 
 

• People with a learning disability and/or autism and their families/carers 

• Independent expert advisors – one clinical and one expert by experience 

• The responsible commissioner and others involved in the person’s care 
and treatment  

 
These reviews look to see if someone’s care is safe, effective and whether 
they need to be in hospital as well as whether there is a plan in place for the 
future. By mid-September 2015 over 2,020 CTRs had been completed since 
their introduction in October 2014.  Between March and August 2015, over 
750 people in hospital were discharged or transferred.  

 
2.6 Progress has been made. Hundreds of people previously in hospital are now 

living in their own homes, and the foundations for future progress have         
been laid.  

 
2.7 Despite this, we know the most significant changes needed lie ahead. For all 

the progress made discharging individuals from hospital, the number of 
people not living at home remains similar to what it was when CTRs were 
introduced.  Admissions remain high, and some people are in hospital when 
they are ready to be discharged because the right support is not available.  

 
2.8 As Sir Stephen Bubb highlighted in his report for NHS England7, we need to 

change the mix of services available on the ground - shifting our investment 
into better support in the community and closing some inpatient services. To 
do this “we need both more ‘top-down’ leadership...and from the ‘bottom up’ 

                                            
7 http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/transforming-
commissioning-services.pdf  

Page 35

http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/transforming-commissioning-services.pdf


      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

12 
 

 

more empowerment for people with learning disabilities and/or autism and 
their families.” 

 
2.9 Six ‘fast track’ areas have begun that process, and this plan sets out how we 

will now support the rest of the country to follow suit. 
 

Fast tracks 

2.10 Over the summer of 2015, NHS England, LGA and ADASS supported six ‘fast 
track areas’8 (collaborations of CCGs, local authorities and NHS England 
specialised commissioners) to draw up plans for service transformation. A £10 
million fund was made available to these areas to help fund transitional costs 
and speed up implementation.9 

 
2.11 These areas are highly diverse – in terms of demography, patient flows, 

provider landscapes, deprivation, urban and rural communities – allowing 
NHS England, LGA and ADASS to test our approach to a range of different 
challenges that different communities in England will face as they seek to 
transform services – from developing the local workforce to designing new 
community health services to ensuring that funding flows enable change.    

 
Figure 4: Fast track areas 

 

                                            
8 Greater Manchester; Lancashire; Cumbria and the North East; Arden, 
Herefordshire and Worcestershire; Nottinghamshire; Hertfordshire 
9 The NHS and local government in these areas spend many millions on care for 
people with a learning disability and/or autism. The £10 million is not intended to fund 
all the costs in that new service model 

Page 36

DJones5_7
Typewritten Text

DJones5_8
Typewritten Text

DJones5_9
Typewritten Text
.

DJones5_10
Typewritten Text
.



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

13 
 

 

2.12 Each fast track’s plan has been published alongside this document, and fast 
track areas are now engaging with local communities and providers to help 
shape delivery.  
 

2.13 Taken together, fast track plans envisage that bed usage across all six areas 
will reduce by approximately 50% over the coming three years, freeing up 
tens of millions of pounds which will be invested in community-based support 
to prevent hospital admissions.  
 

2.14 Below is a summary of some of the actions that each of the fast track areas 
are implementing.  

Greater Manchester 

2.15 The devolution deal for Greater Manchester has resulted in new powers and 
responsibilities for local leaders. In describing their joint ambition for change, 
they have prioritised the improvement of services for people with a learning 
disability and/or autism.   
 

2.16 In terms of bed usage, the Greater Manchester Fast Track uses a range of 
hospital providers but has a significant number of inpatients in Calderstones 
Partnership Foundation Trust, which is also used to a large degree to provide 
care to patients from Lancashire. As such their plans are being jointly 
developed with the Lancashire Fast Track.  
 

2.17 Their ambition is to reduce their use of 130 inpatient beds by 50%: from 77 
non-secure beds to 30 (a 60% reduction) and from 53 secure beds to 35 (a 
34% reduction) by 2018/19. To re-provide this care they are creating intensive 
community support services with robust case management and discharge 
coordination across the area to enable individuals to receive care at home 
and improve their care experience.  
 

2.18 Recognising that occasionally the needs of individuals can increase, they are 
also investing, this year, in six local crisis beds and an in-reach/out-reach 
team providing safe short intensive support when needed.   
 

2.19 Furthermore they are in the process of creating an innovative housing scheme 
that will ensure round-the-clock care for people with a learning disability 
and/or autism from early next year.   
 

2.20 A cornerstone of the plan is their intention to retain and build the confidence of 
the staff, as well as families/carers, to improve quality of care in the 
community. To do this they intend to deliver a three year family and staff 
development programme. 
 

2.21 In addition, to monitor the impact of the plan by March 2017 - as part of the 
wider Greater Manchester Public Sector Reform Programme - there will be a 
formal evaluation assessing its impact over an 18 month period.  
 
 
 
 

Page 37



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

14 
 

 

Lancashire  
 
2.22 Similarly to Greater Manchester Fast Track, Lancashire uses a range of 

hospital providers but has a significant number of inpatients in Calderstones 
Partnership Foundation Trust.  
  

2.23 Lancashire intends to reduce their reliance on non-secure beds by 70% and 
substantially reduce the numbers of people who come into contact with 
secure services.  This high ambition will be achieved by focussing on putting 
in place high-quality individual packages of care and creating a hub and 
spoke community support model (expected to be fully operational by March 
2018).  They will develop:  
 

• An integrated community learning disability team across the whole of 
Lancashire 

• Crisis intervention and support services across the area 

• A small number of community-based assessment and treatment services 
to prevent unnecessary out of area placements 

 
2.24 To help with developing these services, Lancashire is rolling out a local 

engagement plan to ensure people impacted by these changes are fully 
involved in the building up of community capacity and shaping the services 
they use. 
 

2.25 Their intention to retain staff to work in new models of care is a vital part of the 
plan. A comprehensive development programme will be rolled out this year, 
with two CCGs implementing Positive Behavioural Support (PBS) training and 
a scheme designed to offer rights-based training to improve access to 
mainstream health and social care services for people with a learning 
disability and/or autism.  
 

2.26 Finally, in line with the national service model, they expect from April 2017 to 
reshape advocacy services across the region and develop a more robust 
model for delivering short break services. 
 

• Calderstones Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 
 
2.27 A key plank of the plans being developed in Lancashire and Greater 

Manchester will be to close and re-provide services offered by Calderstones 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. 
 

2.28 Calderstones Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is the only remaining 
standalone learning disability hospital trust in England with 223 beds.  They 
have initiated a collaboration with Mersey Care NHS Trust driven by an 
ambition to develop person-centred care, and sustainable services that stand 
the test of time, underpinned by a strong quality, clinical and financial case for 
fundamental changes in local secure mental health and learning disabilities 
care. 
 

2.29 The plan is for Mersey Care NHS Trust to take over Calderstones Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust, which from July 2016 will cease to exist. 

Page 38



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

15 
 

 

 
2.30 The plans developed by Greater Manchester and Lancashire Fast Tracks with 

NHS England Specialised Commissioners, subject to consultation, will 
implement a new service model resulting in a substantial reduction of beds 
(>60% fewer than currently).   
 

2.31 NHS England will also cease commissioning secure services on the 
Calderstones site.   
 

2.32 All hospital beds on the current Calderstones site will therefore, subject to 
consultation, close and be re-provided over the next three years on a case by 
case basis for each patient, in the community or in new state of the art units 
elsewhere in the North West, and the Calderstones site will close.   
 

2.33 Ongoing consultation and engagement with people with learning disabilities, 
their families and carers will be central to the process of change and the 
commissioners and providers involved are committed to ensuring that patients 
and families are always involved in decisions about their care and support.  
 

2.34 Calderstones Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and Mersey Care NHS Trust 
have appointed a joint Medical Director to provide clinical leadership in the 
process of bringing these two organisations together.  The post holder will 
help sustain and build world class leaders and staff, enabling them to be part 
of the future. 
 

2.35 The trusts are already focussing on a range of joint quality initiatives with staff 
to improve quality and increase efficiency - for instance, they have initiated 
an international collaboration with Stanford Risk Authority (Stanford 
University) to manage risk and learn lessons in a way that has never been 
undertaken in the NHS. 

 
Cumbria and the North East 
 
2.36 Compared to the rest of the country, Cumbria and the North East have more 

individuals with a learning disability registered on GP registers and a higher 
usage of inpatient services (255 inpatient beds) mainly making use of two key 
hospital trusts – Northumberland, Tyne and Wear Foundation Trust and Tees 
Esk and Wear Valleys Foundation Trust.   

 
2.37 These beds are a collection of secure and non-secure beds and are occupied 

not only by people from the area, but from across the country.  Cumbria and 
North East aim to deliver a 52% reduction (76 beds) in non-secure beds and a 
43% reduction (47 beds) in low secure beds. Commissioning action is already 
underway to facilitate this reduction, with 40 beds being empty at time of 
publication. 
 

2.38 Building on service improvements in physical health, Cumbria and the North 
East are creating a single set of standards to incorporate into contracts used 
locally. Each local authority and CCG is developing and building community 
capacity, including in 2015/16 new investment in:  
 

Page 39



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

16 
 

 

• Services to support people with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and 
autism across Northumberland, and Tyne and Wear 

• Advocacy services 

• Carers’ support 
 
2.39 Localities are also testing new approaches to improving quality.  For example, 

in Newcastle an innovative housing initiative, developed through collaboration 
between social care providers and an NHS provider, is providing preventative 
care and treatment to improve the quality of support people with a learning 
disability and/or autism experience and to avoid unnecessary admissions.  
 

2.40 A central plank to the plan is to retain staff to work in new models of care, and 
develop and up-skill the workforce. For instance, working with Northumbria 
University and local clinicians they intend to implement a National Vocational 
Qualification (NVQ) based on PBS training for staff.  
 

Hertfordshire  
 
2.41 For several years Hertfordshire CCGs have been working with Hertfordshire 

Partnership Trust, Hertfordshire County Council and others to modernise 
services for people with a learning disability and/or autism, and they have 
already successfully closed many assessment and treatment beds across the 
area. But they believe they should go further. 
 

2.42 Their ambition is now to bring adult and children’s services together into a 
dedicated integrated service.  This will include a single point of access that 
will empower service users of all ages to access help, support and 
appropriate treatment in the community. This model will be consulted on 
before the end of the year. 
 

2.43 By 2018/19 they expect to reduce their usage of low-secure beds by over 
30%, and to reduce length of stay in assessment and treatment beds to an 
average of 85 days.  
 

2.44 Furthermore, they are establishing an evaluation partnership with 
Hertfordshire University to test a number of prevention and early discharge 
services for individuals who have been in contact with the criminal justice 
system.  This includes a strengthened community forensic team to enable 
faster supported discharge and greater use of community restriction orders, 
and a Circles Project to deliver community support to people with a learning 
disability and/or autism who are deemed to be at high risk of sexual offending. 
 

2.45 Recognising that individuals’ needs can increase, a number of innovative 
crisis intervention pilots will be commissioned and evaluated from 2015/16, 
namely: 

 

• A hosted family crisis support pilot which will provide intensive home 
support during crisis periods  

• A ‘crash pad’ pilot providing short term accommodation for people who 
need crisis intervention in situations where there has been a placement 
breakdown or termination of tenancy 

Page 40



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

17 
 

 

 
2.46 Finally, Hertfordshire has already begun work to pilot the implementation of 

integrated personal health budgets, which will start to be introduced from April 
2016.  
 

Nottinghamshire 
 
2.47 Nottinghamshire intends to reduce its reliance on non-secure services from 40 

occupied beds to 15 (a 63% reduction) and almost halve its usage of low and 
medium secure beds from 34 to 16 (a 56% reduction). Nottinghamshire now 
has 65 people in inpatient care in NHS trusts and the independent sector.   
 

2.48 Nottinghamshire’s plan has individual rights at its centre and an immediate 
priority is to commission an increase in advocacy for people during care and 
treatment reviews. Early plans also include strengthening their existing 
community learning disability and intensive care and treatment teams, as well 
as risk registers, so they can confidently support individuals who are at risk of 
coming into contact with the criminal justice system and subsequent 
admission to hospital. 
 

2.49 Recognising that confidence of staff and families is paramount to helping 
individuals stay at home, families will be offered evidence-based parenting 
training as well as practical and emotional support locally.  In addition, to 
retain and up-skill staff to deliver the new care model  workforce training will 
be undertaken to ensure staff have a consistent understanding and approach 
to working with people who display behaviour that challenges which enables 
individuals to remain in the least restrictive setting. 
 

2.50 Next year, they will expand their personal health budget offer and tackle gaps 
in the accessibility of mainstream services. As the needs of individuals can 
increase, new crisis accommodation will be established as well as new 
pioneering housing options for people with complex behaviours and those in 
contact with the criminal justice system as they are discharged from hospital.  
 

2.51 Nottinghamshire will start to pool budgets for crisis care from April 2016 and 
work towards further alignment and pooling arrangements from April 2017. 
 

2.52 Finally, across Nottinghamshire there are a high number of local inpatient 
beds (199), many of which are not used by local commissioners.  The Fast 
Track has recognised that the longer term plan of this economy will require 
strong partnerships with other commissioners across the country. 

 
Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
 
2.53 Commissioners in Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire have been driving 

forward improvements in learning disabilities for several years and have 
agreed strategies for improving both physical and mental health and been 
steadily reducing reliance on hospital beds. They now have 47 people in 
inpatient care, mainly in Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust.   
 

Page 41



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

18 
 

 

2.54 It is expected that across the area they will reduce the number of beds used 
by inpatients to 14. This means reducing their usage of non-secure beds from 
19 to 3 (an 85% reduction), and of secure beds from 21 to 11 (a 48% 
reduction).  They also intend to reduce their usage of child and adolescent 
mental health service (CAMHS) beds by children with a learning disability 
and/or autism by seven.  
 

2.55 These closures are expected to start this year, with a nine-bed assessment 
and treatment ward shutting (subject to appropriate local consultation).  
 

2.56 Their intention is to redeploy staff working in that unit to new community 
services, and having learnt from the experience and undertaken appropriate 
consultation, to apply the learning to other sites. 
 

2.57 In addition, the area plans to develop by November 2015: 
 

• An admission avoidance scheme in Coventry and Warwickshire NHS 
Trust  

• A short-term accommodation for people who need support when a 
placement breaks down or, for example, if a tenancy breaks down 

 
2.58 Throughout the rest of the year, across Arden, Herefordshire and 

Worcestershire the aim is to create intensive community support teams which 
will work with existing mental health crisis teams to provide comprehensive 
crisis care 24/7.  To facilitate this they plan to have a liaison nurse who will 
work to improve support and the interface between learning disability and 
wider mental health services.  
 

2.59 From April 2016 a community forensic service will be commissioned to 
support people to be discharged who are currently out of area and enhance 
the support locally to avoid future admissions. The aim is to then review the 
coverage and plan for further closures in 2017/18. 
 

2.60 Finally, Coventry and Warwick Partnership Trust are commissioned by other 
West Midlands commissioners.  The Arden, Hereford and Worcestershire 
Fast Track is exploring strategic alliances with them to spread learning and 
support change. 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 42



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

19 
 

 

Figure 5: Projected bed usage rates across fast track sites (inpatients per 
million population)10  

 
 
Figure 6: Projected total bed usage across fast tracks (chart shows projected 
number of inpatients originating from the fast track site)11    

 

                                            
10 See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts. 
11 See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts. 

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

80.00

90.00

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

In
p
a
ti
e
n
ts

 p
e
r 

m
ill

io
n
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire Hertfordshire

Nottinghamshire Greater Manchester

Lancashire Cumbria & NE

0

50

100

150

200

250

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

o
c
c
u
p
ie

d
 i
n
p
a
ti
e
n
t 

b
e
d
s

Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire Hertfordshire

Nottinghamshire Greater Manchester

Lancashire Cumbria & NE

Page 43



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

20 
 

 

Figure 7: Projected usage of NHS England-commissioned beds across fast 
tracks (chart shows projected number of inpatients originating from the fast 
track site)12 

 
 
Figure 8: Projected usage of CCG-commissioned beds across fast tracks (chart 
shows projected number of inpatients originating from the fast track site)13 

 
                                            
12 See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts 
13 See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

o
c
c
u
p
ie

d
 i
n
p
a
ti
e
n
t 

b
e
d
s

Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire Hertfordshire

Nottinghamshire Greater Manchester

Lancashire Cumbria & NE

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

o
c
c
u
p
ie

d
 i
n
p
a
ti
e
n
t 

b
e
d
s

Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire Hertfordshire

Nottinghamshire Greater Manchester

Lancashire Cumbria & NE

Page 44



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

21 
 

 

 
2.61 The actions outlined above represent just the start of what the fast tracks will 

do, and as their plans develop and community services mature we expect the 
bed reduction trajectories set out in their plans to translate into further closure 
of individual wards and units. As the fast track areas start to implement their 
ambitious plans for change, NHS England, LGA and ADASS will draw on our 
experience of working with them to support the rest of the country to build new 
community services and close inpatient provision that is no longer needed. 
The rest of this plan sets out how these new services should look, and how 
we plan to work together to deliver them. 

 

  

Page 45



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

22 
 

 

3. The new services we need 
 
3.1 People with a learning disability and/or autism have the right to the same 

opportunities as anyone else to live satisfying and valued lives and to be 
treated with dignity and respect. They should expect, as people without a 
learning disability or autism expect, to live in their own homes, to develop and 
maintain positive relationships and to get the support they need to be healthy, 
safe and an active part of society.  
 

3.2 As Professor Jim Mansell highlighted in 1993 and in 2007, however, too rarely 
do people receive this type of personalised support across their whole life.  In 
turn, many of the behaviours services label as challenging could be prevented 
from developing if the right support were made available to people and their 
families or carers when they needed it. 
 

3.3 The changes to services we plan to make are intended to put that right.  
 

Improving services for a heterogeneous group  

3.4 People with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviour that 
challenges are a highly heterogeneous group. The task of reshaping services 
will reflect that diversity.   

 
3.5 For people who have been in inpatient settings for a very long period of time, 

the task facing commissioners will be to resettle those individuals into the 
community and close the hospital beds behind them. This will include a 
number of people who will have been in hospital for many years, in some 
cases having not been discharged when NHS campuses or long-stay 
hospitals were closed. It is the group of people for whom hospital has 
effectively become a permanent home, and for whom the task now is to find 
them a more appropriate home in the community, with the right package of 
health and care support around them. This is the group who will likely be 
eligible for NHS-funded dowries when they are ready to be discharged, to 
help fund their new package of care in the community (see chapter 4 for more 
detail on how these dowries will work). 
 

3.6 Approximately a third of the people currently in hospital have been in inpatient 
settings for five years or longer. Whilst hospital may be the right place for 
some of this group (for clinical reasons often combined with Ministry of Justice 
restrictions), Care and Treatment Reviews have already identified 
transfer/discharge dates over the coming three years for just under 40% of the 
individuals concerned, and we would expect that number to rise as we build 
the right set of services in the community.  

 
3.7 In the main, however, the challenge facing commissioners is as much about 

preventing new admissions and reducing the time people spend in inpatient 
care by providing alternative care and support, as it is about discharging those 
individuals currently in hospital.  The task requires: advocacy, early 
intervention, prevention and ensuring the right set of services are available in 
the community.  
 

Page 46



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

23 
 

 

3.8 In many cases, it will involve close collaboration not just between the NHS 
and social care, but also with parts of the criminal justice system, building on 
recent joint work between NHS England and the Ministry of Justice to facilitate 
the discharge of patients subject to restriction orders - currently more than 
one in five of the people in hospital settings have been detained on part III of 
the Mental Health Act with a Ministry of Justice restriction. 

 
3.9 Transformation will mean redesigning services to better meet a range of 

common sets of needs. For instance, it will mean better serving children, 
young people or adults with a learning disability and/or autism who: 

 

• Have a mental health condition such as severe anxiety, depression, or a 
psychotic illness, and those people with personality disorders, which may 
result in them displaying behaviour that challenges 

• Display self-injurious or aggressive behaviour (not related to severe mental 
ill health), some of whom will have a specific neuro-developmental 
syndrome where there may be an increased likelihood of developing 
behaviour that challenges 

• Display risky behaviours which may put themselves or others at risk and 
which could lead to contact with the criminal justice system (this could 
include things like fire-setting, abusive, aggressive or sexually 
inappropriate behaviour) 

• Often have lower level support needs and who may not traditionally be 
known to health and social care services, from disadvantaged 
backgrounds (e.g. social disadvantage, substance abuse, troubled family 
backgrounds) who display behaviour that challenges, including behaviours 
which may lead to contact with the criminal justice system 

 
3.10 The different kinds of shift in service response required to better meet these 

heterogeneous needs are set out in more detail in a national service model for 
commissioners of health and social care services, developed with the support 
of a group of independent experts, including people with lived experience of 
services, and published alongside this document.  

 
  

Page 47



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

24 
 

 

 
Figure 9: People for whom we need new services 

 
 

The service model  

3.11 Each local area is different. Local populations have different needs, and their 
range of providers have different strengths and weaknesses. The mix of 
services they put in place will need to reflect that diversity. However, there 
does need to be some national consistency in what services look like across 
local areas, based on established best practice. 

 
3.12 The national service model, developed with the support of people with 

learning disability and/or autism, as well as families/carers, and a group of 
independent experts and published alongside this document, sets out how 
services should support people with a learning disability and/or autism who 
display behaviour that challenges.  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 48



      

      

      

   
Classification: Official 

25 
 

 

The National Service Model 

1. People should be supported to have a good and meaningful everyday life - 
through access to activities and services such as early years services, education, 
employment, social and sports/leisure, and support to develop and maintain good 
relationships.   

 
2. Care and support should be person-centred, planned, proactive and 

coordinated – with early intervention and preventative support based on 
sophisticated risk stratification of the local population, person-centred care and 
support plans, and local care and support navigators/keyworkers to coordinate 
services set out in the care and support plan.  

 
3. People should have choice and control over how their health and care needs are 

met – with information about care and support in formats people can understand, 
the expansion of personal budgets, personal health budgets and integrated 
personal budgets, and strong independent advocacy.  

 
4. People with a learning disability and/or autism should be supported to live in the 

community with support from and for their families/carers as well as paid 
support and care staff – with training made available for families/carers, support 
and respite for families/carers, alternative short term accommodation for people to 
use briefly in a time of crisis, and paid care and support staff trained and 
experienced in supporting people who display behaviour that challenges.  

 
5. People should have a choice about where and with whom they live – with a choice 

of housing including small-scale supported living, and the offer of settled 
accommodation. 

 
6. People should get good care and support from mainstream NHS services, using 

NICE guidelines and quality standards – with Annual Health Checks for all those 
over the age of 14, Health Action Plans, Hospital Passports where appropriate, 
liaison workers in universal services to help them meet the needs of patients with 
a learning disability and/or autism, and schemes to ensure universal services are 
meeting the needs of people with a learning disability and/or autism (such as 
quality checker schemes and use of the Green Light Toolkit).  

 
7. People with a learning disability and/or autism should be able to access specialist 

health and social care support in the community – via integrated specialist 
multi-disciplinary health and social care teams, with that support available on an 
intensive 24/7 basis when necessary.  

 
8. When necessary, people should be able to get support to stay out of trouble – 

with reasonable adjustments made to universal services aimed at reducing or 
preventing anti-social or ‘offending’ behaviour, liaison and diversion schemes in 
the criminal justice system, and a community forensic health and care function to 
support people who may pose a risk to others in the community.  

 
9. When necessary, when their health needs cannot be met in the community, they 

should be able to access high-quality assessment and treatment in a hospital 
setting, staying no longer than they need to, with pre-admission checks to ensure 
hospital care is the right solution and discharge planning starting from the point of 
admission or before.    

Page 49



      
   

Classification: Official 

26 
 

 

P
age 50



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

27 
 

 

Reduced need for inpatient services 
 
3.13 With the right set of services in place in the community, the need for inpatient 

care will significantly reduce, and commissioners will need to have in place far 
less hospital capacity.  

 
3.14 We will support local commissioners to plan exactly what inpatient capacity 

they do need, starting with a set of national planning assumptions. Those 
planning assumptions are that by March 2019, no area should need more 
inpatient capacity than is necessary at any one time to cater to:  
 

• 10-15 inpatients in CCG-commissioned beds (such as those in 
assessment and treatment units) per million population  

• 20-25 inpatients in NHS England-commissioned beds (such as those in 
low-, medium- or high-secure units) per million population  

 
3.15 In some local areas, use of beds will be lower than these planning 

assumptions, and we will encourage those local areas to see if they can go 
further still in supporting people out of hospital settings above and beyond the 
these initial planning assumptions. 

 
3.16 These planning assumptions are based on what fast track areas have told us 

they believe is possible, ‘sense-checked’ against current geographical 
variation in usage of inpatient services (see figures 2 and 3 below). 

 
3.17 These planning assumptions (10-15 inpatients in CCG-commissioned beds 

per million population; 20-25 inpatients in NHS England-commissioned beds 
per million population) would translate to closing, at a minimum:  
 

• 45-65% of CCG-commissioned inpatient capacity (such as assessment 
and treatment units)  

• 25-40% of NHS-England- commissioned inpatient capacity (such as 
secure services, where we expect the bulk of change to occur in low-
secure provision) 

 
3.18 Taken together, that means closing, at a minimum, between 35% - 50% of 

inpatient provision nationally.  In some areas more reliant on hospital care the 
change will be even more significant, as the following map and charts 
illustrate. 

 
 

  

Page 51



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

28 
 

 

Figure 10: Reduction in bed usage (%) implied by national planning 
assumptions, by proposed transforming care partnerships14  
 

 
 
 
 
 

                                            
14 Upper and lower planning assumptions have been applied to current inpatient 
rates at a transforming care partnership level.  The map shows the % reduction in 
inpatient numbers represented by the midpoint between the projected upper and 
lower rates for each partnership. See Annex C for further notes on the data used in 
these charts. 

60-70%

50-60%

40-50%

30-40%

20-30%

Less than 20%

Page 52



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

29 
 

 

Figure 11: Geographical variation in reliance on CCG-commissioned inpatient 
services (as at 31 July 2015), shown against new national planning 
assumptions by proposed transforming care partnership15  

  

                                            
15 See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts. 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Wiltshire and Swindon

Cornwall

South Worcestershire, Redditch, Bromsgrove & Wyre Forest

Somerset and North Somerset

Bradford

Leeds

London South West

Sussex

Gloucestershire

Dorset

Cambridge and Peterborough

Bristol, Bane and South Gloucestershire

Oxfordshire

Surrey

Hampshire & Isle of Wight

Nene and Corby

Buckinghamshire

Halton, St Helens, Warrington, Knowsley

Shropshire

Lincolnshire

London North, Central & East

Kent and Medway

Norfolk

London North West

Sheffield, Doncaster, Rotherham, N Lincs

Birmingham Cross City, Birmingham South Central & Solihull

Devon

Leicestershire

Essex

Hertfordshire

Bedford, Luton and Milton Keynes

London South East

Coventry, Rugby, South Warwickshire & Warwickshire North

Liverpool, Sefton, Southport & Formby

Lancashire

Berkshire

Greater Manchester

Derbyshire

Suffolk

North Yorkshire

Staffordshire

Nottinghamshire

East Riding & Hull

Barnsley, Wakefield, Kirklees, Huddersfield & Calderdale

Black Country

Hereford

Wirral, Cheshire & Chester

Cumbria and NE

Walsall

Current CCG-commissioned inpatients per million

Upper Planning Assumption

Lower Planning Assumption

Page 53



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

30 
 

 

Figure 12: Geographical variation in reliance on NHS England-commissioned 
inpatient services (as at 31 July 2015), shown against new national planning 
assumptions by proposed transforming care partnership16  

 
 

                                            
16 See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts. 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Suffolk

Buckinghamshire

Essex

Wiltshire and Swindon

Surrey

Dorset

Oxfordshire

Somerset and North Somerset

Devon

Norfolk

London North West

Berkshire

London South East

Hampshire & Isle of Wight

Cornwall

Sussex

Wirral, Cheshire & Chester

Bristol, Bane and South Gloucestershire

London South West

Cambridge and Peterborough

Halton, St Helens, Warrington, Knowsley

Gloucestershire

Leicestershire

Hertfordshire

Lincolnshire

London North, Central & East

Bedford, Luton and Milton Keynes

Liverpool, Sefton, Southport & Formby

Barnsley, Wakefield, Kirklees, Huddersfield & Calderdale

Nene and Corby

Bradford

Hereford

Leeds

Greater Manchester

Derbyshire

South Worcestershire, Redditch, Bromsgrove & Wyre Forest

North Yorkshire

Kent and Medway

Staffordshire

Nottinghamshire

Sheffield, Doncaster, Rotherham, N Lincs

Walsall

East Riding & Hull

Coventry, Rugby, South Warwickshire & Warwickshire North

Cumbria and NE

Birmingham Cross City, Birmingham South Central & Solihull

Lancashire

Shropshire

Black Country

Current NHS England-commissioned inpatients per million

Upper Planning Assumption

Lower Planning Assumption

Page 54



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

31 
 

 

Figure 13: Reductions in usage (%) of CCG-commissioned inpatient services 
implied by national planning assumptions by proposed transforming care 
partnership17  

 

                                            
17 See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts. 

-90.0% -80.0% -70.0% -60.0% -50.0% -40.0% -30.0% -20.0% -10.0% 0.0%

Walsall

Cumbria and NE

Wirral, Cheshire & Chester

Hereford

Black Country

Barnsley, Wakefield, Kirklees, Huddersfield & Calderdale

East Riding & Hull

Nottinghamshire

Staffordshire

North Yorkshire

Suffolk

Derbyshire

Greater Manchester

Berkshire

Lancashire

Liverpool, Sefton, Southport & Formby

Coventry, Rugby, South Warwickshire & Warwickshire North

London South East

Bedford, Luton and Milton Keynes

Hertfordshire

Essex

Leicestershire

Devon

Birmingham Cross City, Birmingham South Central & Solihull

Sheffield, Doncaster, Rotherham, N Lincs

London North West

Norfolk

Kent and Medway

London North, Central & East

Lincolnshire

Shropshire

Halton, St Helens, Warrington, Knowsley

Buckinghamshire

Nene and Corby

Hampshire & Isle of Wight

Surrey

Oxfordshire

Bristol, Bane and South Gloucestershire

Cambridge and Peterborough

Dorset

Gloucestershire

Sussex

London South West

Leeds

Bradford

Somerset and North Somerset

South Worcestershire, Redditch, Bromsgrove & Wyre Forest

Wiltshire and Swindon

Cornwall

% Reduction - Upper Planning Assumption % Reduction - Lower Planning Assumption

Page 55



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

32 
 

 

Figure 14: Reductions in usage (%) of NHS England-commissioned inpatient 
services implied by national planning assumptions by transforming care 
partnership18   

 

                                            
18 See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts. 

-80.0% -70.0% -60.0% -50.0% -40.0% -30.0% -20.0% -10.0% 0.0%

Black Country

Shropshire

Lancashire

Birmingham Cross City, Birmingham South Central & Solihull

Cumbria and NE

Coventry, Rugby, South Warwickshire & Warwickshire North

East Riding & Hull

Walsall

Sheffield, Doncaster, Rotherham, N Lincs

Nottinghamshire

Staffordshire

Kent and Medway

North Yorkshire

South Worcestershire, Redditch, Bromsgrove & Wyre Forest

Derbyshire

Greater Manchester

Leeds

Hereford

Bradford

Nene and Corby

Barnsley, Wakefield, Kirklees, Huddersfield & Calderdale

Liverpool, Sefton, Southport & Formby

Bedford, Luton and Milton Keynes

London North, Central & East

Lincolnshire

Hertfordshire

Leicestershire

Gloucestershire

Halton, St Helens, Warrington, Knowsley

Cambridge and Peterborough

London South West

Bristol, Bane and South Gloucestershire

Wirral, Cheshire & Chester

Norfolk

Essex

Wiltshire and Swindon

Somerset and North Somerset

Cornwall

Devon

Sussex

Surrey

Oxfordshire

Berkshire

Hampshire & Isle of Wight

Dorset

London North West

London South East

Buckinghamshire

Suffolk

% Reductions in usage of NHSE-commissioned inpatient 

services implied by national planning assumptions

% Reduction - Upper Planning Assumption % Reduction - Lower Planning Assumption

Page 56



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

33 
 

 

Figure 15: Reductions in total usage (%) of inpatient services implied by 
national planning assumptions by proposed transforming care partnership19  

 
                                            
19 See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts. 

-80.0% -70.0% -60.0% -50.0% -40.0% -30.0% -20.0% -10.0% 0.0%

Black Country

Suffolk

Walsall

Cumbria and NE

East Riding & Hull

Lancashire

Nottinghamshire

Shropshire

Staffordshire

Hereford

Coventry, Rugby, South Warwickshire & Warwickshire North

Birmingham Cross City, Birmingham South Central & Solihull

North Yorkshire

Barnsley, Wakefield, Kirklees, Huddersfield & Calderdale

Derbyshire

Greater Manchester

Wirral, Cheshire & Chester

Sheffield, Doncaster, Rotherham, N Lincs

Kent and Medway

Essex

Berkshire

Liverpool, Sefton, Southport & Formby

London South East

Bedford, Luton and Milton Keynes

Hertfordshire

Devon

Nene and Corby

South Worcestershire, Redditch, Bromsgrove & Wyre Forest

Leeds

Buckinghamshire

Leicestershire

London North West

Bradford

Norfolk

London North, Central & East

Lincolnshire

Halton, St Helens, Warrington, Knowsley

Surrey

Oxfordshire

Hampshire & Isle of Wight

Bristol, Bane and South Gloucestershire

Dorset

Gloucestershire

Cambridge and Peterborough

London South West

Sussex

Somerset and North Somerset

Cornwall

% Reduction - Upper Planning Assumption % Reduction - Lower Planning Assumption

Page 57



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

34 
 

 

 
3.19 These national planning assumptions should be seen as articulating a 

minimum ambition for the coming three years - not a target that, once met, 
renders the task complete.  
 

3.20 These assumptions are exactly what the term implies – assumptions for local 
commissioners to use as they enter into a detailed process of planning. Local 
planning needs to be creative and ambitious based on a strong understanding 
of the needs and aspirations of people with a learning disability and/or autism, 
their families and carers, and on expert advice from clinicians, providers and 
others. The starting point for service planning should be to think creatively 
about what support would help people to live the best possible life, as 
opposed to making marginal change to the set of services we have currently – 
and we will support people with lived experience, clinicians, providers and 
other experts to work with commissioners and help them think ambitiously and 
creatively in that way. 
 

3.21 In parallel to these planning assumptions, for the inpatient provision that 
remains we will work with clinicians, providers and commissioners to reduce 
the period of time that people spend in hospital, building on and spreading 
best practice – for instance, Hertfordshire’s fast track plan aims to help reduce 
length of stay in assessment and treatment services to an average of 85 days. 
We will also use Care and Treatment Reviews (CTRs) to this end: if someone 
is still in hospital after a year a mandatory CTR will take place, and people in 
hospital will also have a right to request a CTR.  
 

3.22 The planning assumptions articulated here should not be seen as describing 
an ‘end state’ after which services can be set in aspic. We will always want to 
improve the services and support we make available to people with a learning 
disability and/or autism. So before the end of 2018, having built up community 
support and closed hundreds of beds, we will take stock and look at going 
further with the development of community support and the closure of 
inpatient services.  
 

3.23 The immediate task now, however, is to start delivering the ambitious 
changes set out above. What follows is our plan for doing that.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 58



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

35 
 

 

4. Working together to provide new services 
 

Transforming care partnerships 
 
4.1 To deliver the change outlined in the previous chapter, and following what we 

have learned from the fast tracks, NHS commissioners, in discussion with 
local government, are mobilising transforming care partnerships –
collaborations of CCGs, local authorities and NHS England specialised 
commissioners.  
 

4.2 Currently the approach to commissioning services for people with a learning 
disability and/or autism is fractured, with responsibility split between local 
authorities, CCGs and NHS England. It can be difficult to move funding from 
one agency to another, to enable the commissioning of less inpatient care and 
more preventative, community-based services and support. Furthermore, 
many CCGs will be commissioning for a small number of people with a 
learning disability and/or autism, making it difficult to take a strategic approach 
to changing services across the system. Hospitals caring for this group of 
patients will often be commissioned by a large number of CCGs and NHS 
England, so that it is difficult for one commissioner to work with those 
providers to change the services they offer.  
 

4.3 The new transforming care partnerships, currently mobilising, are intended to 
help address these weaknesses in commissioning arrangements. They will 
bring together the commissioners responsible for funding health and social 
care for people with a learning disability and/or autism (CCGs, local 
authorities with their responsibilities for care and housing, NHS England 
specialised commissioning), with their budgets aligned or pooled as 
appropriate. Figure 16 below and Annex A set out  further details on how 
CCGs propose to cluster together in order to work with local authorities and 
NHS England specialised commissioning hubs in these new partnerships. We 

expect all CCGs in England to have finalised these arrangements by December 
2015.  

 4.4 Transforming care partnerships will be supported to work alongside people 
who have experience using these services, as well as their families/carers, 
clinicians, providers and other stakeholders to formulate and implement joint 
transformation plans – closing some inpatient provision and shifting 
investment into support in the community. 

 
4.5 They will bring commissioners together at a scale larger than most CCGs and 

many local authorities, with their geographical footprint based on:   
 

• Building where possible on existing collaborative commissioning 
arrangements (e.g. joint purchasing arrangements amongst CCGs, joint 
commissioning arrangements between CCGs and local authorities)  

• Local health economies of services for people with a learning disability 
and/or autism (e.g. patient flows, the provider landscape, and relationships 
between commissioners and providers). Where, for instance, a number of 
CCGs tend to use the same hospital provider for inpatient services for 

Page 59



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

36 
 

 

people with a learning disability and/or autism, it makes sense for those 
CCGs to implement change collaboratively  

• Commissioning at sufficient scale to manage risk, develop commissioning 
expertise and commission strategically for a relatively small number of 
individuals whose packages of care can be very expensive   

 

The challenge  
 
4.6 Each Transforming Care Partnership will be supported to improve outcomes 

for people with a learning disability and/or autism – both those currently in 
inpatient services (of whom there are approximately 2,600 nationally) and 
those in the community at risk of being admitted to hospital without the right 
support (of whom there are an estimated 24,000 nationally20).   

 
4.7 We will support local transforming care partnerships to make progress on 

three outcomes: 
 

• Reduced reliance on inpatient services (closing hospital services and 
strengthening support in the community)  

• Improved quality of life for people in inpatient and community settings 

• Improved quality of care for people in inpatient and community settings 
 

4.8 People with a learning disability and/or autism as well as their families/carers 
should be supported to co-produce these plans. The change we need to see 
is as much about a shift in power as it is about service reconfiguration, and 
that should be reflected not just in the new services and support put in place 
(where for instance the national service model calls for the expansion of 
personal health budgets and high-quality independent advocacy), but in the 
way service changes are planned and delivered.  

 
4.9 We will expect transforming care partnerships to tailor their approach based 

on local context, but in a way that is consistent with national parameters - in 
particular, the national service model and minimum planning assumptions on 
inpatient capacity outlined in chapter 3. 

   
4.10 This work will also need to align with a number of other national priorities, 

such as: 
 

• Local Transformation Plans for Children and Young People’s Health                         
and Wellbeing 

• Local action plans under the Mental Health Crisis Concordat 

• The ‘local offer’ for personal health budgets, and Integrated Personal 
Commissioning (combining health and social care)   

• Work to implement the Autism Act 2009 and recently refreshed                         
statutory guidance 

• The roll out of education, health and care plans  

                                            
20 K. Lowe et al, Challenging Behaviours: prevalence and topographies. Journal of 
Intellectual Disability Research, 51, 625–636 (2007). 

Page 60



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

37 
 

 

Figure 16 – Proposed transforming care partnerships  

 

 

Transforming Care Partnerships

South Worcestershire, Redditch, Bromsgrove & Wyre Forest (Fast Track)

Hereford (Fast Track)

Coventry, Rugby, South Warw ickshire & Warw ickshire North (Fast Track)

Birmingham Cross City, Birmingham South Central & Solihull

Walsall

Black Country

Derbyshire

Nottinghamshire (Fast Track)

Suffolk

Norfolk

Cambridge and Peterborough

Essex

Bedford, Luton and Milton Keynes

Hertfordshire (Fast Track)

Nene and Corby

Lincolnshire

Leicestershire

Shropshire

Staffordshire

Gloucestershire

Wiltshire and Sw indon

Bristol, Bane and South Gloucestershire

Somerset and North Somerset

Cornw all

Devon

Kent and Medw ay

Sussex

Surrey

Oxford and Buckinghamshire

Berkshire

Hampshire & Isle of Wight

Dorset

Wirral, Cheshire & Chester

Halton, St Helens, Warrington, Know sley

Liverpool, Sefton, Southport & Formby

Greater Manchester (Fast Track)

Lancashire (Fast Track)

Cumbria and NE (Fast Track)

North Yorkshire

Barnsley, Wakefield, Kirklees, Huddersfield & Calderdale

Bradford

Leeds

Sheffield, Doncaster, Rotherham, Lincs

East Riding & Hull

London North West

London North, Central & East

London South East

London South West

Page 61



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

38 
 

 

Supporting local areas  
 
4.11 NHS England, LGA and ADASS will support transforming care partnerships 

through the different stages of their journey in planning for and implementing 
change.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mobilisation 

4.12 Local areas will need to have a solid foundation upon which to base 
transformation, including strong leadership and sound governance, 
engagement, and commitment to joint working amongst a complex range of 
stakeholders.  

 
4.13 As with the fast track areas, we envisage all transforming care partnerships 

having a single Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) responsible for the 
development and delivery of this work.  

 
4.14 Transforming care partnerships will need to engage with and involve a broad 

range of people, including: all the CCGs; NHS England specialised 
commissioners; local authorities, including those commissioners responsible 
for adult and children’s social care, education, housing and safeguarding; 
people with a learning disability and/or autism, their families/carers; clinicians; 
third-sector organisations; the police and those responsible for the criminal 
justice system; and relevant Local Education and Training Boards.  

   
4.15 We will support local commissioners in this phase to mobilise the necessary 

project management resource, governance arrangements and partnership 
working across the range of organisations who need to be involved.  

 
Understanding the starting point 

4.16 Transforming care partnerships will need to base their plans on a strong 
understanding of: the population they are seeking to achieve better outcomes 
for (both current inpatients and those in the community at risk of admission 
without the right support); how much money CCGs, local authorities and NHS 
England specialised commissioners are currently spending on health and care 
for that population; which providers are delivering what services for that 
spend; and how the system is currently performing, its strengths and 
weaknesses.   

 
4.17 In addition to the above areas will need to understand the estate and housing 

requirements to implement their plans, and establish whether there are 

Page 62



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

39 
 

 

available capital receipts which could be recycled as part of this programme – 
including those relating to the estimated 2,000 properties used by councils or 
social landlords to provide housing or care to people with a learning disability 
but under an NHS charge.  
 

4.18 NHS England, LGA and ADASS will provide data and access to subject 
matter experts to support local commissioners to understand the strengths 
and weaknesses of existing local services.  
 

Developing a vision for the future and designing a future model of care 

4.19 We will support local commissioners to develop a shared vision of how 
services will change, in line with the national service model.  

 
4.20 NHS England, LGA and ADASS will support local areas with independent 

facilitation to bring local stakeholders together to design a jointly-owned future 
model of care. We will also support commissioners to access a range of 
experts, such as people with a learning disability and/or autism and their 
family carers who are ‘experts by experience’, clinicians, people with 
experience of person-centred planning - and integrated personal budgets -  
and providers of innovative community care and support.  

 
Implementation planning  

4.21 Local commissioners will need to draw up a road map for implementation, 
covering issues such as finance, workforce development, market 
development, or changes to estates.  

 
4.22 NHS England, LGA and ADASS will provide technical expertise to support 

local areas with implementation planning. Building on the review process 
developed for assuring fast track plans and in alignment with the process for 
assuring CCGs’ annual plans, local implementation plans will be reviewed and 
challenged by a range of stakeholders including people with a learning 
disability and/or autism, their families/carers, clinicians and commissioners 
from other areas.  

 
Delivery  

4.23 We expect local transforming care partnerships to have drawn up robust 
implementation plans and be delivering against them from 1 April 2016.  

 
4.24 A cross-sector alliance of organisations will support these transforming care 

partnerships to deliver on this ambitious agenda.  
 
4.25 Working alongside local commissioners, NHS England, LGA and ADASS will 

work with providers and their representative bodies to rapidly mobilise new 
housing and care services in the community. This work will focus on 
supporting providers to:      

 

• Support commissioners to redesign services, including through advice on 
commissioning plans and market development, expertise on legal 
frameworks (such as the Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty 

Page 63



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

40 
 

 

Safeguards [DoLS]), and supporting individuals and families to design 
person-centred packages of support  

• Deliver appropriate community-based services at scale, including through 
joint work between social care providers and providers of clinical services, 
and developing local responses to emergencies 

• Train the local workforce within and beyond their organisations (e.g. 
through PBS training) 

• Access the investment needed to expand and improve their offer at pace, 
including potentially through social investors 

• Secure the capital required to deliver high-quality housing in community 
settings, including through potential social investment solutions such as 
charity bond issues (see case study below) 

 

Case study – Retail Charity Bonds  

In 2014, the first charity bond to be listed on the London Stock Exchange’s Order 
Book for Retail Bonds was launched.  

The bond, which raised £11 million to fund accommodation for people with a learning 
disability, was so oversubscribed it closed its offer period two and half weeks early. 

The bond was launched by Retail Charity Bond plc and the funds have been used by 
Golden Lane Housing, the national charity which provides housing for people with a 
learning disability, to invest in buying and adapting much-needed community based 
housing across the country for over 100 people with a learning disability.  

 
4.26 Alongside this work with providers to mobilise new services and housing in 

the community, we will explore the establishment of a national collaborative 
improvement programme (co-ordinating peer-learning and shared problem-
solving between local areas), and a national accelerated support team able to 
work intensively with local areas with the biggest challenges and/or struggling 
to make progress. 

 
4.27 HEE, Skills for Health and Skills for Care will collaborate to support the 

development of an appropriately skilled workforce to build the capacity to 
support people in the community. As far as possible, this will include working 
to support current inpatient staff to develop skills to work in the community. 
Every transforming care partnership will have a lead HEE contact to support 
them with planning and delivering workforce change. That lead contact will 
help them access relevant tools (such as competency frameworks), funding 
streams and training (for example leadership development or training to 
support staff in mainstream services to understand the needs of people with a 
learning disability and/or autism). Annex B sets out some of these resources 
in more detail. 

 
4.28 NHS England, Monitor and the TDA will work together to support hospitals 

proactively in order to shift their business models, increasingly offering NHS 
assessment and treatment services in the community.  

 

Page 64



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

41 
 

 

4.29 We will work with the CQC, Monitor, the TDA and local commissioners to 
ensure that inpatient units are only closed when people living in those units 
are supported to move in an appropriate and timely way to high quality 
services that can meet their needs. The CQC is also undertaking work to 
review their fundamental standards against the service model.  When 
regulating active services (or those seeking registration) these fundamental 
standards will be used and robust action taken if services are not compatible 
with these and therefore the new service model.  
 

4.30 We will review governance arrangements for the Transforming Care 
programme at a national level to ensure it reflects this alliance of 
organisations supporting local areas to deliver.  
 

Monitoring progress  

 
4.31 Nationally, we will monitor progress on delivery against the overarching 

outcomes we expect transformation to achieve, namely:    
 

• Reduced reliance on inpatient services (closing hospital services and 
strengthening support in the community) 

• Improved quality of life for people in inpatient and community settings 

• Improved quality of care for people in inpatient and community settings 
 

4.32 Reduced reliance on inpatient services will be monitored using Assuring 
Transformation data,21 and from January 2016 the Mental Health Services 
Single Data Set22 (MHSDS), incorporating data from the Learning Disabilities 
Census and Assuring Transformation dataset.  

 
4.33 We will explore with transforming care partnerships an appropriate way to 

monitor improvements in quality of life, but are minded to support areas to roll 
out use of the Health Equality Framework tool23 to monitor quality of life. In 
particular, we are considering how to support the use of this tool to 
understand changes to quality of life as people are supported to move out of 
inpatient services. 

 

4.34 We will support the development of a basket of indicators to monitor 
improvements in quality of care, aligned with the newly developed service 
model. This basket of indicators will, as far as possible, be based on existing 
data sources currently collected in the NHS and social care.   
 

4.35 Furthermore, as part of the roll out of the CTRs across the NHS, NHS 
England will work with system partners on introducing a metric for measuring 
the outcomes of this process. This may involve introducing a Patient Reported 
Outcome Measure (PROM) and/or a Patient Reported Experience Measure 

                                            
21 http://www.hscic.gov.uk/article/6328/Reports-from-Assuring-Transformation-
Collection 
22 This is replacing the Mental Health and Learning Disabilities dataset.
23 http://www.ndti.org.uk/publications/other-publications/the-health-equality-
framework-and-commissioning-guide1/  

Page 65

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/article/6328/Reports-from-Assuring-Transformation-Collection
http://www.ndti.org.uk/publications/other-publications/the-health-equality-framework-and-commissioning-guide1/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/qual-clin-lead/ld/atd/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/qual-clin-lead/ld/atd/
http://www.ndti.org.uk/publications/other-publications/the-health-equality-framework-and-commissioning-guide1/


      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

42 
 

 

(PREM). Development of this CTR outcome measure will have to involve 
people with a learning disability and/or autism, as well as their families/carers, 
clinicians, providers and commissioners to ensure it is robust and can be used 
at a national level to assess progress. 

 
4.36 We will also revise the Learning Disability Self-Assessment Framework (SAF) 

and the Autism Self-Assessment Framework so that they reflect how well 
local areas are doing in building up support in the community and closing 
inpatient services.  
 

4.37 With all the measures outlined above, it is important that people are supported 
to understand who will see their information, how their information will be used 
and make decisions about sharing their information.  People should be given 
help to do this. For those people who lack capacity, they should still be 
involved as much as possible in any decisions made in their best interests.   
 

4.38 NHS England will also support people with a learning disability to check the 
quality of services themselves, through a programme of work to establish a 
centralised system for NHS Quality Checking by people with a learning 
disability. Quality checker services train and support experts by experience to 
audit service quality. Quality checkers use their own experiences to make 
assessment on the quality of care and support, and to give a view that can be 
often missing from other forms of quality review. This entails using indicators 
of quality which people with a learning disability themselves consider to be 
relevant and important and which may therefore differ from those which have 
historically been used. Quality checkers with a learning disability will 
themselves carry out the evaluation, part of which will involve talking to 
service users about their experiences and views of the service in question. 
Evaluation of quality checking programmes show them to be an effective and 
efficient use of resources and to be associated with increases in quality and 
improved outcomes.  
 

4.39 In addition, pilot work supported by NHS England has also demonstrated the 
potential of ‘Always Events’ to strengthen the voices of people with a learning 
disability and/or autism in the quality assurance of services. 
 

4.40 Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust - in partnership with the Institute for 
Healthcare Improvement (IHI), the Picker Institute Europe and NHS England - 
has co-produced with people with a learning disability a set of ‘Always Events’ 
to improve the quality and consistency of transitions within and between 
services. NHS England will expand its work on ‘Always Events’, share the 
case study from Lancashire and produce a toolkit with IHI to support the 
further use of this tool in order to improve the responsiveness and 
accountability of services. 

 
  

Page 66

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/pe/learning-disability-projects/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/pe/learning-disability-projects/


      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

43 
 

 

Financial underpinnings 
 
4.41 A new financial framework will underpin and enable transformation.  

 
4.42 Local transforming care partnerships (CCGs, local authorities and NHS 

England specialised commissioning) will be asked to use the total sum of 
money they spend as a whole system on people with a learning disability 
and/or autism to deliver care in a different way to achieve better results. This 
includes shifting money from some services (such as inpatient care) into 
others (such as community health services or packages of support). The costs 
of the future model of care will therefore be met from the total current 
envelope of spend on health and social care services for people with a 
learning disability and/or autism. We estimate that the closure of inpatient 
services of the scale set out in chapter 3 will release hundreds of millions of 
pounds for investment in better support in the community. 

 
4.43 To enable that to happen, NHS England’s specialised commissioning budget 

for secure learning disability and autism services will be aligned with the new 
transforming care partnerships, and CCGs will be encouraged to pool their 
budgets with local authorities whilst recognising their continued responsibility 
for NHS Continuing Healthcare. CCGs, NHS England specialised 
commissioning and local authorities will be supported to, where appropriate, 
put in place governance and financial mechanisms to align or pool resources 
and manage financial risk. The degree of change and financial risk will 
inevitably vary across localities, and we will support local commissioners to 
base decisions on transparent, open-book discussions, focussed on achieving 
the best outcomes for the people they serve.  

 
4.44 For people who have been an inpatient for five years or more (approximately 

one third of the total inpatient population) and who are ready for discharge, we 
expect the transformational change required to be one of ‘resettlement’ out of 
hospital and into a more suitable home, as opposed to redesigning services to 
reduce the ‘revolving door’ of admissions and discharges. For this group, 
money will ‘follow the individual’ through dowries.  
 

4.45 Dowries will be paid by the NHS to local authorities for people leaving hospital 
after continuous spells in inpatient care of five years or more at the point of 
discharge. We expect that NHS England will pay for dowries when the 
inpatient is being discharged from NHS England-commissioned care, and that 
CCGs will pay for dowries when the individual is being discharged from CCG-
commissioned care. Dowries will be recurrent, will be linked to individual 
patients, and will cease on the death of the individual. An annual confirmation 
of dowry-qualifying individuals should be undertaken by local authorities and 
CCGs. Dowries are to be prospective only, and so should not be applied to 
any patients that have already been discharged. They should apply to those 
patients discharged on or after 1 April 2016, and only to those patients who 
have been in inpatient care for five years or more on 1 April 2016 (not any 
patient who reaches five years in hospital subsequent to that date). They 
should apply pro rata in the start and finish year. To ensure that the costs of 
the future model of care fit within the existing funding envelope, it is important 

Page 67



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

44 
 

 

that dowries are set at a level which is consistent with this principle. The 
absolute level of the dowry is not expected to be set nationally, but is to be left 
to local discussions which should be subject to the principles set out here. In 
addition to paying for these dowries, the NHS will continue to fund continuing 
healthcare (CHC) and relevant Section 117 aftercare. 

 
4.46 In addition, from November 2015 Who Pays guidance - determining 

responsibility for payment to providers - will be revised to facilitate swifter 
discharge from hospital of patients originating from one CCG but being 
discharged into a different local area. This will ensure continuity of care with 
responsibility remaining with one CCG rather than being passed from 
commissioner to commissioner. 

 
4.47 Transformation of this scale will entail significant transition costs, including the 

temporary double running of services as inpatient facilities continue to be 
funded whilst new community services are established.  The extent of the 
transition costs will depend on the efficiency of the bed closure programme, 
and the timing and extent of required new community investment.  We will 
work with commissioners and providers to support the closure of inpatient 
capacity and development of new community services as efficiently as 
possible, but we recognise that non-recurrent investment will still be 
necessary. To support local areas with these transitional costs, building on the 
approach tested with fast track areas, NHS England will make available up to 
£30 million of transformation funding over three years, with national funding 
conditional on match-funding from local commissioners.  
 

4.48 In addition to this, £15 million capital funding over three years will be made 
available, and NHS England will explore making further capital funding 
available following the Spending Review. 

   
4.49 As set out in the national service model, alongside these new financial 

underpinnings to enable transformation, we expect to see a significant growth 
in personalised funding approaches (personal budgets, personal health 
budgets, and integrated personal budgets as well as education, health and 
care plans). Local transformation should, for instance, be aligned with existing 
requirements for CCGs to set out a ‘local offer’ on personal health budgets.  
 

4.50 In some parts of the country, local transformation plans will also need to align 
with Integrated Personal Commissioning (IPC) pilots. IPC sites are currently 
testing approaches to enable people to purchase their care (including clinical 
services currently commissioned using NHS standard contracts) through 
personal budgets, combining resources from health, social care and other 
funding sources where applicable. The work these sites are undertaking 
includes linking cost and activity data across services and trialling new 
contracting and payment approaches that enable the money to be used 
differently. As IPC sites progress their work, we will support local transforming 
care partnerships to learn from them and apply the lessons to their own local 
areas.  

Page 68



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

45 
 

 

Conclusion 
 
This document started with a simple vision that people with learning disability and/or 
autism have the right to the same opportunities as anyone else to live satisfying 
valued lives and to be treated with dignity and respect.  They should have a home, 
be able to develop and maintain relationships, and get the support they need to live 
healthy, safe and fulfilling lives in the community. 
 
For all the frustration of recent years, it is a vision that we can make real. Thousands 
of people with a learning disability and/or autism are today supported in the 
community who would years ago have lived in hospitals. There is good practice 
across the country. There are thousands of people with the expertise and 
commitment to make this shift happen, from people with a learning disability and/or 
autism themselves, their families/carers as well as frontline clinicians and staff. We 
have local leaders across social care, the NHS and criminal justice system ready and 
willing to take up the challenge. At a national level there is an alliance of 
organisations committed to breaking down the barriers to change, supporting local 
leaders to make a difference.  
 
Together we have an opportunity to transform thousands of lives. Together we must 
seize the day and deliver.   
 

  

Page 69



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

46 
 

 

Annex A – Proposed CCG clusters for transforming care 
partnerships  
 
This table shows how CCGs currently propose to cluster together to work with local 
authorities and NHS England specialised commissioning to build up community 
services and close inpatient provision that is no longer needed. 

 

Transforming Care 
Partnership 

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

South Worcestershire, 
Redditch, Bromsgrove & Wyre 
Forest  
  

NHS South Worcestershire CCG 

NHS Wyre Forest CCG 

NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG 

Hereford  NHS Herefordshire CCG 

Coventry, Rugby, South 
Warwickshire & Warwickshire 
North  
 

NHS Coventry and Rugby CCG 

NHS South Warwickshire CCG 

NHS Warwickshire North CCG 

Birmingham CrossCity, 
Birmingham South Central & 
Solihull 
 

NHS Birmingham CrossCity CCG 

NHS Birmingham South and Central CCG 

NHS Solihull CCG 

Walsall NHS Walsall CCG 

Black Country 
 

NHS Dudley CCG 

NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG 

NHS Wolverhampton CCG 

Derbyshire 
 

NHS Erewash CCG 

NHS Southern Derbyshire CCG 

NHS Hardwick CCG 

NHS North Derbyshire CCG 

Nottinghamshire  
  

NHS Mansfield and Ashfield CCG 

NHS Bassetlaw CCG 

NHS Newark and Sherwood CCG 

NHS Nottingham City CCG 

NHS Nottingham North and East CCG 

NHS Nottingham West CCG 

NHS Rushcliffe CCG 

Suffolk 
 

NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 

NHS West Suffolk CCG 

Norfolk 
 

NHS North Norfolk CCG 

NHS Norwich CCG 

Page 70



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

47 
 

 

 
 

NHS South Norfolk CCG 

NHS West Norfolk CCG 

NHS Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG 

Cambridge and Peterborough NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 

Essex 
 

NHS Basildon and Brentwood CCG 

NHS Castle Point and Rochford CCG 

NHS Mid Essex CCG 

NHS North East Essex CCG 

NHS Southend CCG 

NHS Thurrock CCG 

NHS West Essex CCG 

Bedford, Luton and Milton 
Keynes 
 

NHS Bedfordshire CCG 

NHS Luton CCG 

NHS Milton Keynes CCG 

Hertfordshire  
 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG 

NHS Herts Valleys CCG 

Nene and Corby 
 

NHS Nene CCG 

NHS Corby CCG 

Lincolnshire 
 

NHS Lincolnshire East CCG 

NHS Lincolnshire West CCG 

NHS South Lincolnshire CCG 

NHS South West Lincolnshire CCG 

Leicestershire 
 

NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG 

NHS Leicester City CCG 

NHS West Leicestershire CCG 

Shropshire 
 

NHS Shropshire CCG 

NHS Telford and Wrekin CCG 

Staffordshire 
 

NHS East Staffordshire CCG 

NHS North Staffordshire CCG 

NHS South East Staffordshire and Seisdon 
Peninsular CCG 

NHS Stafford and Surrounds CCG 

NHS Cannock Chase CCG 

NHS Stoke-on-Trent CCG 

Gloucestershire NHS Gloucestershire CCG 

Wiltshire and Swindon 
 

NHS Swindon CCG 

NHS Wiltshire CCG 

Bristol, Bane and South NHS Bristol CCG 

Page 71



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

48 
 

 

Gloucestershire 
 

NHS South Gloucestershire CCG 

NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG 

Somerset and North Somerset 
 

NHS North Somerset CCG 

NHS Somerset CCG 

Cornwall NHS Kernow CCG 

Devon 
 

NHS North, East, West Devon CCG 

NHS South Devon and Torbay CCG 

Kent and Medway 
 

NHS Ashford CCG 

NHS Canterbury and Coastal CCG  

NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG 

NHS Medway CCG 

NHS South Kent Coast CCG 

NHS Swale CCG 

NHS Thanet CCG 

NHS West Kent CCG 

Sussex 
 

NHS Brighton and Hove CCG 

NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG 

NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG 

NHS Hastings and Rother CCG 

NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG 

NHS Crawley CCG 

NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG 

Surrey 
 

NHS Guildford and Waverley CCG 

NHS North West Surrey CCG 

NHS Surrey Downs CCG 

NHS East Surrey CCG 

NHS Surrey Heath CCG 

Buckinghamshire 
 

NHS Aylesbury Vale CCG 

NHS Chiltern CCG 

Berkshire 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NHS Bracknell and Ascot CCG 

NHS Slough CCG 

NHS Windsor Ascot and Maidenhead CCG 

NHS Newbury and District CCG 

NHS North and West Reading CCG 

NHS South Reading CCG 

NHS Wokingham CCG 

Hampshire & Isle of Wight 
 

NHS North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG 

NHS North Hampshire CCG 

Page 72



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

49 
 

 

NHS Portsmouth CCG 

NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG 

NHS Southampton CCG 

NHS West Hampshire CCG 

NHS Fareham and Gosport CCG 

NHS Isle of Wight CCG 

Dorset NHS Dorset CCG 

Wirral, Cheshire & Chester 
 

NHS Wirral CCG 

NHS West Cheshire CCG 

NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG 

NHS South Cheshire CCG 

NHS Vale Royal CCG 

Halton, St Helens, Warrington, 
Knowsley 
 

NHS Halton CCG 

NHS St Helens CCG 

NHS Warrington CCG 

NHS Knowsley CCG 

Liverpool, Sefton, Southport & 
Formby 
 

NHS South Sefton CCG 

NHS Southport and Formby CCG 

NHS Liverpool CCG 

Greater Manchester  
  

NHS Bolton CCG 

NHS Bury CCG 

NHS Central Manchester CCG 

NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG 

NHS North Manchester CCG 

NHS Oldham CCG 

NHS Salford CCG 

NHS South Manchester CCG 

NHS Stockport CCG 

NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG 

NHS Trafford CCG 

NHS Wigan Borough CCG 

Lancashire  
  
 
 
 
 
 

NHS Blackburn with Darwen CCG 

NHS Blackpool CCG 

NHS Chorley and South Ribble CCG 

NHS East Lancashire CCG 

NHS Fylde and Wyre CCG 

NHS Greater Preston CCG 

NHS Lancashire North CCG 

Page 73



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

50 
 

 

NHS West Lancashire CCG 

Cumbria and NE  
 

NHS Cumbria CCG 

NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 

NHS North Tyneside CCG 

NHS Northumberland CCG 

NHS South Tyneside CCG 

NHS Sunderland CCG 

NHS Darlington CCG 

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
CCG 

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees  CCG 

NHS North Durham CCG 

NHS South Tees CCG 

North Yorkshire 
 

NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby 
CCG 

NHS Harrogate and Rural District CCG 

NHS Scarborough and Ryedale CCG 

NHS Vale of York CCG 

Barnsley, Wakefield, Kirklees, 
Huddersfield & Calderdale 
 

NHS Barnsley CCG 

NHS Wakefield CCG 

NHS North Kirklees CCG 

NHS Greater Huddersfield CCG 

NHS Calderdale CCG 

Bradford  
  

NHS Bradford Districts CCG 

NHS Bradford City CCG 

NHS Airedale, Wharfdale and Craven CCG  

Leeds 
 

NHS Leeds North CCG 

NHS Leeds South and East CCG 

NHS Leeds West CCG 

Sheffield, Doncaster, 
Rotherham, North Lincolnshire 
 

NHS Doncaster CCG 

NHS Rotherham CCG 

NHS North East Lincolnshire CCG 

NHS North Lincolnshire CCG 

NHS Sheffield CCG 

East Riding & Hull 
 

NHS East Riding of Yorkshire CCG 

NHS Hull CCG 

London North West 
 

NHS Brent CCG 

NHS Central London CCG 

Page 74



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

51 
 

 

NHS Ealing CCG 

NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG 

NHS Harrow CCG 

NHS Hillingdon CCG 

NHS Hounslow CCG 

NHS West London CCG 

London North, Central & East 
 

NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG 

NHS Barnet CCG 

NHS Camden CCG 

NHS City and Hackney CCG 

NHS Enfield CCG 

NHS Haringey CCG 

NHS Havering CCG 

NHS Islington CCG 

NHS Newham CCG 

NHS Redbridge CCG 

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG 

NHS Waltham Forest CCG 

London South East 
 

NHS Bexley CCG 

NHS Bromley CCG 

NHS Greenwich CCG 

NHS Lambeth CCG 

NHS Lewisham CCG 

NHS Southwark CCG 

London South West 
 

NHS Croydon CCG 

NHS Kingston CCG 

NHS Merton CCG 

NHS Richmond CCG 

NHS Sutton CCG 

NHS Wandsworth CCG 

Oxfordshire NHS Oxfordshire CCG 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

52 
 

 

Annex B – Workforce development  
 

i. In every part of the country there are people with the skills and experience to 
deliver effective care to people with a learning disability and/or autism. These 
people can be found within health and social care and amongst the people 
with a learning disability and/or autism themselves, as well as families/carers 
that support individuals in their own home.   

 
ii. As such, an essential part of delivering each joint transformation plan relies on 

how areas can harness these skills.  
 

iii. Areas need to develop, focus and refine the skills needed to enable them to 
work in a different way. They need to manage risk efficiently and have robust 
and effective ways of intervening in crisis situations that lead to the best 
possible solutions in the least restrictive environment. 

 
iv. Each area needs to establish mechanisms to understand the skills and 

competencies that are required to support the specific needs of every 
individual.  Only then will they be able to commission a service that is flexible 
enough to care for each person and their own specific circumstances. The 
development of new and innovative approaches to supporting people will be 
reliant upon the development of a flexible and skilled workforce equipped to 
adapt and adopt new practices. This may involve commissioning new roles 
from those traditionally employed within the current provision.24 Those 
commissioned to provide such services will need to define competencies and 
skills required, assess the capability currently available within their workforce, 
and access appropriate training and development. This will include developing 
skills to deliver services across all ages in the areas of mental health, autism, 
managing behavioural problems and offending behaviour.   

 
v. HEE alongside partner organisations Skills for Care and Skills for Health will 

offer practical support with the aim to: 
 

• Equip commissioners with the tools and confidence to commission 
for workforce skills and competencies. Commissioners are an essential 
part of the workforce that needs development and support to deliver the 
new service model.  This includes enhancing existing service provision, 
creating new service models and commissioning beyond the traditional 
service boundaries, for example placing learning disability nurses in 
primary and secondary care in order to support health and care 
professionals to make better decisions. Skills for Care have developed a 
workforce commissioning model that provides a systematic way of linking 
service commissioning with workforce commissioning and financial 
strategy. This can be found here 

 
vi. There are several models for testing workforce assumptions and undertaking 

Strategic Workforce planning, including Integrated Workforce Planning 

                                            
24 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/ 
309153/Strengthening_the_commitment_one_year_on_published.pdf  

Page 76

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/309153/Strengthening_the_commitment_one_year_on_published.pdf
http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/NMDS-SC-intelligence-research-and-innovation/Workforce-commissioning/Workforce-commissioning.aspx
http://www.skillsforhealth.org.uk/images/services/workforce/Workforce%20planning%20leaflet.pdf


      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

53 
 

 

Solutions from Skills for Health, and Skills for Care’s Workforce Capacity 
Planning guidance. 

 

• Work with existing service providers to review the skills and 
competencies within their existing workforce to identify education 
and training needs, and facilitate transition to a new way of working. 
HEE in partnership with Skills for Health have developed a skills and 
competency framework which can be utilised to undertake a training needs 
analysis of the existing workforce, and to build a competency based team 
model against which new and existing roles can be mapped. The 
framework, alongside an illustrative animated video, can be found here: 
HEE Skills & Competency Framework 

 
vii. We are in the process of developing an interactive tool to support the 

implementation and use of the competence framework. 
  
viii. The Positive Behavioural Support (PBS) Coalition have published a PBS 

Competency Framework. For ease of use, the PBS competencies have been 
mapped into the HEE Skills and Competency Framework.  

 
ix. Whilst this framework has been developed primarily for the health care 

workforce it can be utilised in a range of services. Skills for care have 
developed a strategy for the social care sector to support functional and 
employability skills (Core Skills), which impact directly on the quality of care 
and support services.  

  

• Ensure that education and training to enable the wider workforce is 
able to meet the needs of people with a learning disability in all care 
settings. Recognising that most people with a learning disability have their 
health and care needs met by mainstream health care services, HEE 
commissioned the development of education and training resources 
'Learning Disability Made Clear' that can be used by staff in a range of 
health and care settings to increase their knowledge and support how 
services can make adjustments to meet specific needs 

 
x. A suite of existing resources developed to raise awareness of the needs of 

people with autism, have been reviewed and located in one place to enable 
individuals and organisations to select the most appropriate resource for their 
needs. A marketing and promotion strategy is underway to ensure these 
resources are widely accessed by employers, employees, volunteers and 
carers across the country. These can be found here.  

  
xi. In addition to the above, work is being undertaken to develop specific learning 

disability and autism skills in the mainstream mental health workforce on 
whom we will become increasingly reliant as specialist services become more 
integrated. 
 
 

 

Page 77

http://www.skillsforhealth.org.uk/images/services/workforce/Workforce%20planning%20leaflet.pdf
http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/NMDS-SC-intelligence-research-and-innovation/Workforce-commissioning/Workforce-capacity-planning/Workforce-capacity-planning.aspx
http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/NMDS-SC-intelligence-research-and-innovation/Workforce-commissioning/Workforce-capacity-planning/Workforce-capacity-planning.aspx
https://hee.nhs.uk/work-programmes/mental-health-and-learning-disability/learning-disability/education-and-training-for-learning-disability-workforce/
http://pbscoalition.blogspot.co.uk/
http://pbscoalition.blogspot.co.uk/
http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Skills/Core%20skills/Core-skills.aspx
http://learningdisabilitymadeclear.nhs.uk/
https://hee.nhs.uk/work-programmes/mental-health-and-learning-disability/learning-disability/education-and-training-for-the-whole-workforce/autism-awareness-learning-resources/


      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

54 
 

 

• Developing leadership capability across the system including 
commissioners, service providers and carers to promote innovation 
and change services to focus on people’s needs. HEE, Skills for Health 
and Skills for Care will coordinate access to the various provision and 
funding streams available across agencies to ensure that creative and 
innovative leadership activities are supported as part of the national 
transformation plan 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 78



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

55 
 

 

Annex C – Notes on data used in this document 

 
All modelling to produce planning assumptions and charts was based on calculating 
inpatient rates per million population. The following notes apply to all charts used in 
this document which describe projected reductions in fast track bed usage and 
current geographical variation in reliance on inpatient care across England.  
 

• All inpatient rates are based on GP registered population aged 18 and over as 
at 2013/14 

• Inpatient numbers include children under the age of 18 but these patients 
represent less than 5% of the total inpatient population 

• High secure services have been excluded (65 patients25) 
 
Data on the current position and projections for fast track areas is taken from the fast 
track plans, but projections exclude Worcestershire (part of Arden, Herefordshire and 
Worcestershire Fast Track).  
 
The data set used to calculate the current geographical variation as at 31 July 2015 
combines information on CCG-commissioned patients from the Assuring 
Transformation collection and data on NHS England-commissioned patients from 
NHS England’s Local Trackers (this includes information on the home CCG of NHS 
England-commissioned patients). This means that the presentation of inpatient data 
is based on where patients originally come from, not where their hospital is located. 
 
Assuring Transformation data is collected and published by The Health and Social 
Care Information Centre (HSCIC). All rights reserved ©2015. Assuring 
Transformation data is presented in accordance with HSCIC rules on suppressed 
data for collections involving small numbers of records. 
 
Not all NHS England-commissioned patients in the Local Tracker data could be 
matched to a CCG of origin, and these patients are therefore omitted from the 
analysis of geographical variance on a Transforming Care Partnership level.  The 
geographical analysis presented in Figures 2 and 3 assigns these patients to the 
locality of their commissioner.    

                                            
25 Number of inpatients in high secure settings suppressed in accordance with 
HSCIC rules on suppressed data for collections involving small numbers of records. 
Figure correct as at 31st July 2015. 

Page 79



      

      

      

 
Classification: Official 

56 
 

 

 
 

Local Government Association (LGA)  

Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS)  

NHS England 

Building the right support 
 
A national plan to develop community services and close inpatient facilities 
for people with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviour that 
challenges, including those with a mental health condition 

 
October 2015 
 

Page 80



May 2016

P
age 81



Our Philosophy

P
age 82



Mega Conversation

1. Feedback from last Mega Conversations

2. Joint update with Staff Side - Calderstones 
& Mersey Care’s position

3. Overview of Clinical Model

4. Overview of Management and Divisions

5. Questions & Next Steps

P
age 83



Joint Update with Staff Side

P
age 84



Overview of Clinical Model

P
age 85



Overview of the clinical model 

6

High secure (Rampton)

Medium secure (Maghull new build) 

LD (46)

LLSU (C&M)

(20) Alderley Unit /     Auden 

Unit

LLSU (Lancs)

(20)

Short term intensive 

support (10 beds)

Short term intensive 

support (10 beds)

Short term intensive 

support (10 beds)

LSU (Gr. Man)

(20)

Third Sector

LD Community Teams

(CLDTs)

Third Sector

LD Community Teams

(CLDTs)

LD Community Teams

(CLDTs)

Third Sector

Local CCG services (bed reduction ESS/Step down²) 

LD Specialist Support Team¹LD Specialist Support Team¹LD Specialist Support Team¹

P
age 86



Overview of the clinical model 

7

High secure (Rampton)

Medium secure (Maghull new build) 

LD (46)

LLSU (C&M)

(20) Alderley Unit /     Auden 

Unit

LLSU (Lancs)

(20)

Short term intensive 

support (10 beds)

Short term intensive 

support (10 beds)

Short term intensive 

support (10 beds)

LSU (Gr. Man)

(20)

Third Sector

LD Community Teams

(CLDTs)

Third Sector

LD Community 

Teams(CLDTs)

LD Community Teams

(CLDTs)

Third Sector

Local CCG services (bed reduction ESS/Step down²) 

LD Specialist Support Team¹LD Specialist Support Team¹LD Specialist Support Team¹

Services provided by the enlarged organisation

P
age 87



Workforce

Now End Point

Budget Actual Budget

FTE's FTE's FTE's

MSU 191 146 191

LSU 361 317 264

ESS 207 202 58

FST 10 9 0

Community 0 0 101

Corporate 199 161 141

Total 968 835 755P
age 88



Executive Director of 

Communications & 

Corporate Governance

Elaine 

Darbyshire

Executive 

Director of 

Finance

Neil 

Smith

Director of 

Informatics 

and 

Knowledge 

Management

Jim 

Hughes

Executive 

Director of 

Workforce

Amanda 

Oates

Executive Medical 

Director 

David 

Fearnley

SPECIALIST LD 

DIVISION

Executive 

Director of 

Nursing 

Ray 

Walker

Corporate 

Governance

Executive 

Secretariat 

Business 

Development

Communications 

Chaplains

People 

Participation

Recovery College 

Finance

Estates 

and 

Facilities 

Health 

and 

Safety 

Information 

and 

Performance 

Informatics

Merseyside & 

Technology

Project

Management 

Office 

Medical 

records 

Information 

Governance

Human

Resources

Organisational

Effectiveness

Learning and 

Development

Apprentice 

Centres

Health at Work

Resourcing/

Transactional/

Additional 

Staffing

Equality and 

Diversity

Perfect Care

Knowledge and 

Libraries 

Research and 

audit

Pharmacy

Management 

arrangements 

to be agreed

Nurse 

Executive 

Team

Clinical 

Governance

Risk 

Manage-

ment

Patient 

Safety

Emergency 

Planning 

AHP Lead 

Local Services 

Division

Specialist 

Learning 

Disability 

Division

Secure Division
Corporate 

Division

Chief Executive – Joe Rafferty

Director of 

Strategy 

Louise 

Edwards

Business 

Strategy

Director of 

Integration

TBC

P
age 89



Questions & Next Steps

• Sharing detail of structures as soon as 

they become clear

• Role of Change Champions

• Support available - If you are have any 

further questions discuss things with 

your manager or e mail 
YourVoice.YourChange@calderstones.nhs.uk

P
age 90



 

The Evergreen School      W: www.evergreen-school.uk     T: @SchoolEvergreen 

1 of 9 
 

 

The Evergreen School Proposal 

An 11-18 Key Stage 3, 4 and 5 free school taking four forms of entry is proposed for Hyndburn.  The 

school will be located in the town of Great Harwood. The creation of this school fits within the strategic 

vision of Hyndburn Borough Council to improve educational standards in the borough and address local 

industry employment issues.  

Rationale  

The creation of this proposed free school addresses the following issues. 

1. The flexibility offered to a free school will allow the school to respond to local industry need and 

to be creative in ensuring that the needs of disadvantaged learners are met. 

 

2. The identified need for the raising of educational standards in Hyndburn for all students caused 

by lack of choice in education and poor access to high quality education. The school can offer 

significantly better outcomes for a proportion of the 2744 students that are currently not 

achieving ‘good’ GCSE results.  

 

3. The need for more parental choice in educational provision in Hyndburn. The dominance of one 

Church of England school means that parents are currently forced to attend church in the hope 

that their child will attend the only ‘outstanding’ rated school in the area.  

 

4. The identified need for new educational facilities in the Core Strategy of Hyndburn Borough 

Council, including the Council’s support of proposals for accessible, high quality educational 

facilities that improve basic and higher level skills and qualifications.  

 

 

The evidence for each aspect of the rationale is presented in turn.  

1. Flexibility to respond to local industry  

One Key impetus for establishing a free school within Hyndburn stems from the fact that there is a 

shortage of skilled employees in the Borough. The shortage of skills is linked to poor educational 

attainment, a lack of choice in education and poor access to high quality education.  In contrast to the 

national and county growth, employee numbers in Hyndburn were static in the decade to 2008, whilst 

between 2009 and 2014 the employment number in the authority rose by just 0.9% to reach 27,900.   

2. Need to Raise Educational Standards in Hyndburn  

Hyndburn currently has four secondary schools which are judged good or above by Ofsted and two that 

are not.  The addition of a new free school with a supportive, collaborative, outward focus could help 

promote an upward trajectory of school improvement across the town. Below is a table summarising 

Page 91

Agenda Item 7.

http://www.evergreen-school.uk/


 

The Evergreen School      W: www.evergreen-school.uk     T: @SchoolEvergreen 

2 of 9 
 

the school’s performance in relation to GCSE results and OFSTED inspections. It shows a high number of 

pupils that are not achieving five A*-C GCSE’s. 

 

Of particular concern is the lower than national average percentage of pupils achieving five good GCSE’s. 

The national average for 2014 was 53.4% and as you can see all but two schools in Hyndburn are below 

this average. 3028 students are presently educated in these lower performing schools in Hyndburn. The 

creation of the proposed new secondary school would increase the number of students educated in a 

better performing secondary provision. There are currently more students being educated in the above 

mentioned schools than the new school would have the capacity to educate.  

3.  Parental Choice  

Hyndburn currently has six secondary schools, only one of which is rated ‘Outstanding’ by OFSTED. This 

is St Christopher’s Church of England High School. There is currently no choice of outstanding school in 

Hyndburn for people of alternative or no faith. The opening of a free school would allow for religious 

diversity and there would be no exclusion of any religion.  

School Name Five good GCSE’s 

or equivalent (%) 

A*-C 

Pupil Numbers Pupil numbers 

not achieving 

five good GCSE’s 

Ofsted Rating 

Accrington Academy 35% 1107 

 

719 Good – March 

2015 

St Christopher’s CE 

High School 

56% 1342 

 

590 Outstanding – 

Nov 2011 

The Hollins 

Technology College 

57% 780 335 Good - Oct 2013 

Mount Carmel 

Roman Catholic High 

School 

42% 710 411 Requires 

Improvement – 

Oct 2015 

Norden High School 43% 577 328 Requires 

Improvement – 

May 2014 

Rhyddings Business 

and Enterprise 

School 

43% 634 361 Good – June 

2014 

Total  5150 2744  

Page 92

http://www.evergreen-school.uk/


 

The Evergreen School      W: www.evergreen-school.uk     T: @SchoolEvergreen 

3 of 9 
 

There is currently no secondary school provision in the district of Great Harwood in Hyndburn. The 

opening of a free school in this area would be a benefit to residents of all races, faiths and cultures 

within the district, particularly those who cannot afford to travel the distances to the other secondary 

schools in Hyndburn and the surrounding areas. School travel subsidies in Lancashire are facing large 

cuts and for many families, travelling to schools outside the borough may become financially prohibitive, 

increasing the need for a high quality educational provision in the area.   

4. The identified need for new educational facilities 

Contained in the Council’s Core Strategy for Hyndburn there is a policy specifically relating to education. 

This policy states: 

“The Council will support proposals for accessible, high quality educational facilities that improve basic 

and higher level skills and qualifications. 

 

There is a need to raise educational attainment by providing access to a range of high quality 

educational and training opportunities for children, young people and those wanting to progress their 

education. Such opportunities will increase the amount of skilled young people coming through 

secondary and further education, and will provide opportunities for existing employees to maintain and 

further their skills or to learn new skills.  

 

Accessibility for all sectors of the community to high quality education has multiple benefits. It gives 

people the skills, confidence and knowledge to develop to their full potential and to contribute fully to 

society. It can help reduce the rate of unemployment and increase the level of skilled labour able to take-

up higher level employment opportunities. This also has social benefits, including improved health and 

wellbeing and reduced crime.” 

 

The free school will provide high quality education and training and increase the amount of skilled 

young people coming through secondary education. Consequently, this keeps in line with the strategy 

for the borough of Hyndburn as a whole.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93

http://www.evergreen-school.uk/


 

The Evergreen School      W: www.evergreen-school.uk     T: @SchoolEvergreen 

4 of 9 
 

 

Characteristics of the expected pupil cohort. 

Schools nearest to 

the proposed free 

school location 

 

Distance from 

proposed location 

of free school in 

miles 

Most recent 

Ofsted rating 

% of pupils 

eligible for 

Free School 

Meals 

% of pupils who 

speak English as 

an Additional 

Language 

% of 

pupils 

with an 

EHC Plan 

Progress Measures 

relevant to your 

school type* 

Attainment 

Measures relevant 

to your school type* 

Norden High School 2.5 3 in May 2014 15.7% 12.3% 11.6% Percentage achieving 

5 A*-C GCSE’s 

including English and 

Maths: 43% 

Best 8 Value Added: 

978.8 

St Augustines RC High 

School, Billington 

4.8 1 in 

November 

2013 

4% 0.8% 8.5% Percentage achieving 

5 A*-C GCSE’s 

including English and 

Maths: 67% 

Best 8 Value Added: 

1013.0 

 

Accrington St 

Christopher’s CE 

Academy, Accrington 

4.0 1 in 

November 

2011 

3.8% 1.1% 5.0% Percentage achieving 

5 A*-C GCSE’s 

including English and 

Maths: 56% 

Best 8 Value 

Added:1002.1 

Accrington Academy 4.3 2 in March 

2015 

26.6% 14.2% 8.6% Percentage achieving 

5 A*-C GCSE’s 

including English and 

Maths: 43% 

Best 8  Value 

Added: 966.6 

P
age 94

http://www.evergreen-school.uk/


 

The Evergreen School      W: www.evergreen-school.uk     T: @SchoolEvergreen 

5 of 9 
 

Table continued …. 

Schools nearest to the 

proposed free school 

location 

Distance from 

proposed location of 

free school in miles 

Most recent 

Ofsted rating 

% of pupils 

eligible for Free 

School Meals 

% of pupils who 

speak English as an 

Additional 

Language 

% of pupils 

with an 

EHC Plan 

Progress Measures 

relevant to your school 

type* 

Attainment Measures 

relevant to your 

school type* 

Rhyddings Business 

and Enterprise School, 

Oswaldtwistle 

5.6% 2 in June 2014 20.2% 21% 14% Percentage achieving 

5 A*-C GCSE’s 

including English and 

Maths: 43% 

Best 8  Value 

Added: 966.6 

Mount Carmel RC High 

School, Accrington 

5.4% 3 in October 

2015 

24.3% 33.7% 12.3% Percentage achieving 

5 A*-C GCSE’s 

including English and 

Maths: 44% 

Best  8 Value 

Added: 972.2 

The Hollins 

Technology College, 

Accrington 

5.8% 2 in October 

2013 

12.7% 18.1% 3.5% Percentage achieving 5 

A*-C GCSE’s including 

English and Maths: 57% 

Best 8  Value 

Added: 1023.7 

Average figures that 

may be applied to 

the Free School 

      

Local average   15.33% 14.46% 7.27% 49.29% 999.44% 

National average   13.9% 13.6% 1.8% 56.6%  

P
age 95

http://www.evergreen-school.uk/


 

The Evergreen School      W: www.evergreen-school.uk     T: @SchoolEvergreen 

6 of 9 
 

 

 

 

A clear vision for the school with reference to rationale and pupil profile 

Why doesn’t a traditional education system work for every child? As teachers, we have 

become acutely aware that not every child can be reached and inspired by a mainstream 

learning experience, and this has lead us to developing The Evergreen School. 

Our school is designed to appeal to young people with a keen interest in science, 

technology, creativity and the environment and will offer an exciting and challenging 

programme of project based learning. Children will benefit from an innovative and forward 

thinking curriculum which exposes them to classroom learning, outdoor education and a 

robust work experience programme. 

The focus of The Evergreen School is what it takes to create ‘the whole person’, rather than 

merely training children to pass exams. All lessons will be led by qualified teachers, working 

alongside industry professionals to challenge the children’s perceptions, both of the school 

system and of their own talents and abilities. 

The Evergreen School is designed to be an inclusive 11-18 school with a distinct ethos and 

focus on STEM, sustainability & the environment, creativity, independence and community 

spirit. 

 

A provider that follows the national curriculum in English, maths and science, The Evergreen 

School will also offer an individualised learning experience to a wide range of pupils through 

the use of project based learning, outdoor education, workshops with a wide range of 

industry professionals and a robust and innovative programme of work experience and 

enrichment. 

 

Life at The Evergreen School will be centred around the idea of citizenship and helping to 

create a valuable member of society. Pupils will be encouraged to develop a genuine sense 

of intrigue about the planet that they are part of and finding ways to apply their day-to-day 

learning to real world scenarios. 

 

Some key features of what life at The Evergreen School will involve include: 

 - An alternative school week with an optional day of out of school work  

experience for all pupils. 

 

 

Page 96

http://www.evergreen-school.uk/


 

The Evergreen School      W: www.evergreen-school.uk     T: @SchoolEvergreen 

7 of 9 
 

 

 

 

 - All lessons led by qualified teachers, with the additional input of subject specialists 

or industry professionals who are able to add a new dimension to the school day. 

 - A focus on what it takes to create the ‘whole person’, rather than merely preparing 

pupils to pass a set of exams. 

 - A robust programme of project based learning, led by dedicated and enthusiastic 

teachers with a thirst for knowledge and a wealth of teaching experience. 

 - Sustainability and eco issues embedded right across the curriculum, with STEM, 

English, IT and creativity integrated throughout.  

 - Pupils will be heavily involved in food growing, agriculture and the notion of 

permaculture in their school environment. 

 

Pupil Targets  

We aim for all pupils to achieve a minimum 5 A*-C GCSE including English and Maths and 

achieve the Ebacc. This will be achieved by teaching a range of traditional and non-

traditional subjects, both by qualified teachers and vocational and industry experts from 

local businesses and other agencies. 

 

Target for The Evergreen School 

The Evergreen School aims for all pupils to leave school as community conscious individuals 

as well as with a range of traditional and vocational qualifications. 

 

Teaching will not only focus on qualifications, there will be a strong focus on developing the 

general life skills of all pupils to enable them to function fully in society once they leave 

school.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 97

http://www.evergreen-school.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes of Last Meeting
	4. Appointment of Co-optees
	5. Work Programme 2016/17
	6. Transforming Care/Calderstones NHS
	Appendix A - Transforming Care for people with a Learning Disability andor Autism
	Appendix B  - Building the Right Support (2)
	Calderstones (2)

	7. The Evergreen School Project



